

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Mathematics

Mathematics

2014

HOMOGENEOUS GORENSTEIN IDEALS AND BOIJ SÖDERBERG DECOMPOSITIONS

Sema Güntürkün University of Kentucky, sema.gunt@gmail.com

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Güntürkün, Sema, "HOMOGENEOUS GORENSTEIN IDEALS AND BOIJ SÖDERBERG DECOMPOSITIONS" (2014). *Theses and Dissertations--Mathematics*. 15. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/math_etds/15

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Mathematics at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Mathematics by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Sema Güntürkün, Student Dr. Uwe Nagel, Major Professor Dr. Peter Perry, Director of Graduate Studies

HOMOGENEOUS GORENSTEIN IDEALS AND BOIJ SÖDERBERG DECOMPOSITIONS

DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Arts and Sciences at the University of Kentucky

> By Sema Güntürkün Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. Uwe Nagel, Professor of Mathematics Lexington, Kentucky 2014

Copyright[©] Sema Güntürkün 2014

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

HOMOGENEOUS GORENSTEIN IDEALS AND BOIJ SÖDERBERG DECOMPOSITIONS

This thesis consists of two parts. Part one revolves around a construction for homogeneous Gorenstein ideals and properties of these ideals. Part two focuses on the behavior of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of lex ideals.

Gorenstein ideals are known for their nice duality properties. For codimension two and three, the structures of Gorenstein ideals have been established by Hilbert-Burch and Buchsbaum-Eisenbud, respectively. However, although some important results have been found about Gorenstein ideals of higher codimension, there is no structure theorem proven for higher codimension cases. Kustin and Miller showed how to construct a Gorenstein ideals in local Gorenstein rings starting from smaller such ideals. A modification of their construction in the case of graded rings is discussed. In a Noetherian ring, for a given two homogeneous Gorenstein ideals, we construct another homogeneous Gorenstein ideal and so we describe the resulting ideal in terms of the initial homogeneous Gorenstein ideals. Gorenstein liaison theory plays a central role in this construction. Using liaison properties, we examine structural relations between the constructed homogeneous ideal and the starting ideals.

Boij-Söderberg theory is a very recent theory. It arose from two conjectures given by Boij and Söderberg and their proof by Eisenbud and Schreyer. It establishes a unique decomposition for Betti diagram of graded modules over polynomial rings. In the second part of this thesis, we focus on Betti diagrams of lex ideals which are the ideals having the largest Betti numbers among the ideals with the same Hilbert function. We describe Boij-Söderberg decomposition of a lex ideal in terms of Boij-Söderberg decompositions of some related lex ideals.

KEYWORDS: Gorenstein, Liaison, free resolutions, Betti diagrams, Boij-Söderberg

Author's signature: Sema Güntürkün

Date: May 2, 2014

HOMOGENEOUS GORENSTEIN IDEALS AND BOIJ SÖDERBERG DECOMPOSITIONS

By Sema Güntürkün

Director of Dissertation: Uwe Nagel

Director of Graduate Studies: Peter Perry

Date: May 2, 2014

To my mom, my dad and Murat and our beloved cat, İrmik. I love you all dearly.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would first like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Professor Uwe Nagel for his support, guidance and endless patience during my doctoral studies. Besides my advisor, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee, Prof. Heide Glüsing-Luerßen, Prof. Alberto Corso, Prof. Ruriko Yoshida, Prof. Katherine Thompson and outside examiner Prof. Caicheng Lu for the time they had taken from their schedule.

I want to also thank Prof. John Lewis and his lovely wife Cristina for being very kind to me and making me feel as a part of their family. Many thanks to all graduate students in POT Office 718. I thank Jonathan for making me smile with his sweet Turkish notes during the stresful times. I would like to thank Prof. Russell Brown for giving me a chance of being a part of MathExcel program.

I want to thank Füruzan Ozbek, who as a good and generous friend, for providing support in every way. It would have been very difficult to spent five years without her true friendship. I would like to thank my friends Özge Kabakcı and Arzu Denktaş. I wouldn't have been here without their encourgements and support. They have always been much more than friends to me. I would like to thank my professors from my former school Middle East Technical University for giving me a great education.

My special thanks to Murat Akman, who is my love, my best friend. I could not even imagine to accomplish anything without his encouragement and his support. These past several years would not have been an easy ride for me, both academically and personally without him. I would also like to express my gratitude Murat's family for their unconditional support.

Finally, I especially thank my mom and dad, Tülay and Selahaddin Güntürkün who have been always supportive of me. In every part of my life, they always believe in me. I know that I am very lucky for having such a lovely, wonderful parents.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments
Table of Contents iv
List of Tables
Chapter 1 Introduction
Chapter 2 Homogeneous Gorenstein Ideals
2.1 Preliminaries $\ldots \ldots 5$
2.2 Liaison theory $\ldots \ldots 7$
2.3 Construction of Gorenstein Ideals
2.4 The Kustin-Miller construction in graded rings
2.5 Decomposing Homogeneous Gorenstein Ideals
2.6 Examples
Chapter 3 Boij-Söderberg Decompositions
3.1 Background and Preliminaries
3.2 Boij-Söderberg Decomposition of Lex-Segment Ideals
3.3 Further Observations and Examples
Bibliography
Vita

LIST OF TABLES

3.1	Betti diagrams of \mathfrak{a} and J	31
3.2	Betti diagram of L	31
3.3	Remaining diagram after l steps for $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$	33
3.4	Remaining diagram after l step for $\beta(L)$	33
3.5	Betti diagram of L in $\mathbf{k}[x_1,, x_n]$	36

Chapter 1 Introduction

Commutative algebra is a branch of abstract algebra that studies commutative rings, its modules and ideals. Other areas such as algebraic geometry, algebraic number theory, invariant theory draw upon it by carrying the structural consequences. This dissertation discusses two topics in commutative algebra. Mainly these topics address two class of ideals; Gorenstein ideals and lex-segment ideals. First, we consider homogeneous Gorenstein ideals, a way of constructing them and structural outcomes of this construction. Second, we examine Boij-Söderberg decomposition of lex-segment ideals. We obtain a pattern for Boij-Söderberg decompositions of lex-segment ideals by using some other related lex-segment ideals.

Gorenstein rings are known as a very important class of rings due to their symmetry properties in commutative algebra and algebraic geometry. We refer to [1] and [20] for more historical background of Gorenstein rings. An ideal I in a Gorenstein ring R is said to be Gorenstein ideal if it is perfect (i.e. grade R/I = projdim R/I) and the quotient ring R/I is Gorenstein. The minimal free resolutions of R/I is self-dual (i.e. symmetric regarding the ranks of free modules).

Investigating the structure of Gorenstein ideals has been an ongoing effort in the area of commutative area. Two important result have been obtained about the structures of Gorenstein ideals in codimension 2 and 3.

Theorem 1.0.1 (Hilbert-Burch, [8]). Let R be a local ring and I an ideal of codimension 2 in R with a free resolution $0 \to R^n \to X R^{n+1} \to R \to R/I$. Then I is perfect and $I = aI_n(X)$ ideal generated by n minors of X for an R-regular element a.

Theorem 1.0.2 (Buchsbaum-Eisenbud, [7]). Let R be a Noetherian local ring and $n \geq 3$ an odd integer. An ideal I of codimension 3 in R is Gorenstein if and only if $I = Pf_{n-1}(X)$ where X is an $n \times n$ skew-symmetric matrix.

There are also some results obtained for higher codimension Gorenstein ideals, especially codimension four. Nevertheless, there is no such structural theorem yet. The main motivation for the first part of my thesis is to obtain some structural information about Gorenstein ideals of higher codimension in graded rings.

In [22] Kustin and Miller introduce a construction that produces, for given Gorenstein ideals $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{a}$ with grades g and g-1, respectively, in a Gorenstein local ring R, a new Gorenstein ideal I of grade g in a larger Gorenstein ring R[v]. Here v is a new indeterminate. In [23] they give an interpretation for their construction via liaison theory. These beautiful results prompted us to review their construction for homogeneous Gorenstein ideals in a graded Gorenstein ring. Instead of introducing a new indeterminate, we use a suitable homogeneous element. The construction in [22] does not quite reveal the conditions on that homogenous element. Therefore, we reverse the steps. We use two direct Gorenstein links to produce a new Gorenstein ideal and to describe a generating set of it. Then we adapt the original Kustin-Miller construction suitably in order to produce a graded free resolution of the new Gorenstein ideal that is often minimal. We also consider the question of when the process can be reversed, that is, when can a Gorenstein ideal be obtained using the construction.

We start Chapter 2 with some definitions, fundamental concepts and then we recall the liaison theory and the mapping cone procedure. Then in Theorem 2.3.1 (in [16]), we present a construction of homogeneous Gorenstein ideals via liaison theory. Given two homogeneous Gorenstein ideals $\mathbf{b} \subset \mathbf{a}$ of grades of g - 1 and gin a graded Gorenstein ring R, by choosing an appropriate homogeneous element fin R we construct a homogeneous Gorenstein ideal $I = \mathbf{b} + (\alpha_{g-1}^* + (-1)^g f a_g^*)$ in the original ring R. Here α_{g-1}^* and a_g^* are row vectors derived from comparing the resolutions of \mathbf{a} and \mathbf{b} and the second ideal is generated by the entries of the specified row vector.

Using liaison theory, we also get a graded free resolution of I. However, this resolution is never minimal. Adapting the original Kustin-Miller construction and its proof we obtain a smaller resolution that is often minimal (see Theorem 2.4.1). The key is a short exact sequence, which also allows us to interpret the linkage construction in Theorem 2.3.1 as an elementary biliaison from \mathfrak{a} on \mathfrak{b} .

As an inevitable question of a construction, we discuss the situations of reversing the construction we introduce.

Question 1.0.3. Is it possible to obtain any homogeneous Gorenstein ideal I from the construction given in Theorem 2.3.1?

We provide some partial answer for this question. First, we obtain a necessary condition on \mathfrak{a} for constructing a given Gorenstein ideal I by such a biliaison (see Corollary 2.5.1). We conclude with an example of a homogeneous Gorenstein ideal that can not be obtained using the construction of Theorem 2.3.1 with a strictly ascending biliaison.

Chapter 2 ends with some examples of our construction. The original Kustin-Miller construction has been used to produce many interesting classes of Gorenstein ideals. In birational geometry it is known as unprojection (see, e.g., [26, 27, 5]). We illustrate the flexibility of our homogeneous construction by producing examples. These include the Artinian Gorenstein ideals with socle degree two as classified by Sally [29] and the ideals of submaximal minors of a generic square matrix that are resolved by the Gulliksen-Negard complex. We also consider some Tom unprojections as studied in [5].

The second part of this thesis focuses on Boij-Söderberg decompositions which is covered in Chapter 3. Boij-Söderberg is very recent theory which addresses the characterization of Betti diagrams of graded modules in polynomial rings. Its origins are in a pair of conjectures by Boij and Söderberg [3], whose proof is given by Eisenbud and Schreyer in [10], see also [4]. The result is a characterization of Betti tables of graded modules up to scalar multiples. For more information about Boij-Söderberg theory, we refers to [12]. There is not much known about the behavior of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of an ideal in polynomial rings. Any characterization of Boij-Söderberg decompositions that one obtains will also assist to understand and interpret the more structral consequences of this decomposition of the Betti diagrams. In this chapter, we focus on behavior of the Boij-Söderberg decompositions of lex-segment ideals. Lex-segment ideals have very particular Betti diagrams. The Bigatti-Hulett-Pardue [2, 19, 26] theorem shows that lex-segment ideals have the largest Betti numbers among the ideals with the same Hilbert function. This pivotal property of lex-segment ideals makes their Boij-Söderberg decompositions worthy to study. The main goal is to obtain a pattern for the Boij-Söderbeg decomposition of a lex ideal by using the decompositions of some other related lex-segment ideals. We mainly restrict our attention to the pure Betti diagrams that occur as summands in the decomposition.

Throughout this chapter, let $R = \mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$ be a polynomial ring of 3 variables, with the lexicographic order, $x >_{lex} y >_{lex} z$ and L be a lex-segment ideal in R. The ideal L can be decomposed as $L = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ where \mathfrak{a} is also a lex-segment ideal in R and J is a lex-segment ideal in $\mathbf{k}[y, z]$. We study some relations of the Betti numbers of the ideals L, \mathfrak{a} and J. We describe the entire Betti diagram of the lex ideal L in terms of the Betti numbers of the colon ideal $\mathfrak{a} = L$: (x) and the stable ideal J. In Theorem 3.2.1 (see [15]), we describe "the beginning of the Boij-Söderberg" decomposition" of L in terms of the decomposition of \mathfrak{a} . The algorithm of Boij-Söderberg decomposition itself provides a chain of degree sequences. The first degree sequence in the chain is the top degree sequence of the Betti diagram of L. By the algorithm, the second degree sequences is the top degree sequence of the remaining diagram after the subtraction of the first pure diagram with a suitable coefficient from the Betti diagram. It continues until the Betti diagram is decomposed completely. Thus, by saying that "the beginning of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition", we mean the beginning in the order of the chain of degree sequences in of L. Next we show that if there are t degree sequences of the length 3 in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of $\mathfrak{a} = L: (x)$, we know the first t degree sequences of length 3 in the decomposition of L. We also believe that one could generalize the results shown in Theorem 3.2.1 to the polynomial rings with n variables for finite n.

We also work on pure diagrams of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of the Betti diagrams of L and (L, x) in the polynomial ring $R = \mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$. Like in Theorem 3.2.1, we notice the similarity of the Boij-Söderberg decompositions of lex ideal L and (L, x). We reveal that the entire part of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of (L, x) containing all pure diagrams of length less than 3 shows up precisely as the last part of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L, that is, all pure diagrams of length less than 3 in Theorem 3.2.3.

One naturally hopes to obtain the description of entire Boij-Söderberg decomposition of lex-segment ideal L. Thus, we conclude this chapter with further observations for a possible way to describe the entire chain of top degree sequences in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L. Thanks to Theorems 3.2.1 and 3.2.3, when $R = \mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$, we partly provide a description of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of lex ideal L in terms of the lex ideals $\mathfrak{a} = L : (x)$ and (L, x). However, most of the time, this description does not cover all pure diagrams in the decomposition of L since there might be some pure diagrams of length 3 which are not described. The lexicographic order $x >_{lex} y >_{lex} z$ makes us to think about the colon ideals $\mathfrak{b} = L : (y)$ and $\mathfrak{c} = L : (z)$. Like for the case $\mathfrak{a} = L : (x)$, one may expect similar results for the lex ideals \mathfrak{b} and \mathfrak{c} . Indeed, we see a relation between the Boij-Söderberg decompositions of the lex ideal L and the colon ideals \mathfrak{b} and \mathfrak{c} . This allows us to almost give a full description of the pure diagrams appearing in the decomposition of L.

Copyright[©] Sema Güntürkün, 2014.

Chapter 2 Homogeneous Gorenstein Ideals

2.1 Preliminaries

This section addresses to the sufficient definitions, fundamental concepts and known results that are required for Chapter 2. We begin with the definitions of the ideals we work on throughout this chapter.

Definition 2.1.1. A ring R is called a *graded ring* if it has a decomposition of abelian groups

$$R = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{N}_0} [R]_i$$

such that

$$[R]_i[R]_j \subset [R]_{i+j}$$
 for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Next one could define the graded R-modules.

Definition 2.1.2. Let R be a graded ring. A module M over R is called a graded R-module if it has decomposition $M = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{N}_0} [M]_i$ as abelian groups such that $[R]_i[M]_j \subset [M]_{i+j}$ for all $i, j \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

The component $[M]_i$ is called *i*-th homogeneous component of M. Then an element $x \in [M]_i$ is called homogeneous element of degree *i*.

If an ideal I in a graded ring R is generated by homogeneous elements then it is called *homogeneous ideal*.

For any integer s, the module M(s) stands for the module M with the shifted grading given by $[M(s)]_j := [M]_{s+j}$.

Definition 2.1.3. Let M be a graded R-module whose homogeneous components $[M]_j$ have finite dimension. The numerical function $\mathfrak{h} : \mathbb{N}_0 \to \mathbb{N}_0$ with

$$\mathfrak{h}_M(j) := \dim_k [M]_j$$

is called the Hilbert function of M.

Therefore, for an ideal I in R, we define the Hilbert function of the ideal R/I as $\mathfrak{h}_{R/I}(j) := \dim_k [R/I]_j$.

Definition 2.1.4. Let M be a graded module over a graded ring R and \mathbb{F} be a complex of graded free R-modules.

$$\mathbb{F} : \cdots \to F_i \to \cdots \to F_1 \to F_0,$$

where

$$F_i = \bigoplus_{j>0} R(-j)^{\beta_{i,j}}.$$

 \mathbb{F} is called *graded free resolution* of M if \mathbb{F} is exact with homogeneous degree 0 maps and the cokernel of the map $F_1 \to F_0$ is M. The numbers $\beta_{i,j} \in \mathbb{N}$ are called *Betti Numbers* of the module M, and they are recorded in the *Betti Diagram* of M.

The elements $a \in \mathbb{F}$ are called *homogeneous of degree* i if $a \in F_i$. The ideal generated by these homogneous elements is called *homogeneous ideal*.

Example 2.1.5. Let $R = \mathbf{k}[x_1, ..., x_n]$ be a polynomial ring of n variable over the field \mathbf{k} . Thus, $R = \bigoplus_j R_j$ where $R_j = \{$ the homogeneous polynomials of degree $j\}$. Clearly, $R_0 = \mathbf{k}$ and $R_i R_j \subset R_{i+j}$.

For a simple example for a homogenous ideal, suppose n = 3. Then the ideal $I = (x_1^2, x_2^2, x_3) \subset R$ is homogeneous with (minimal) graded free resolution

$$0 \to R(-5) \xrightarrow{\begin{bmatrix} x_1^2 \\ x_3^2 \\ x_3 \end{bmatrix}} \begin{array}{c} R(-4) & \xrightarrow{\begin{bmatrix} x_3 & 0 & -x_2^2 \\ 0 & x_3 & x_1^2 \\ -x_1^2 & -x_2^2 & 0 \end{bmatrix}} \begin{array}{c} R^2(-2) & \xrightarrow{[x_1^2 x_2^2 x_3]} \\ \oplus & \xrightarrow{[x_1^2 x_2^2 x_3]} \\ R \to R/I \to 0 \\ R(-1) \end{array}$$
Hence the Betti diagram for R/I becomes $\begin{array}{c} 0 & 1 & 2 & 3 \\ \hline \mathbf{total} & \mathbf{1} & \mathbf{3} & \mathbf{3} & \mathbf{1} \\ 1 & - & 2 & 2 & - \\ 2 & - & - & 1 & 1 \end{array}$

The existance of the graded free resolutions of the graded modules over polynomial rings of finite variables are given by David Hilbert.

Theorem 2.1.6 (Hilbert Sygyzy Theorem). Let R be a polynomial ring of n variable over a field \mathbf{k} , that is, $R = \mathbf{k}[x_1, ..., x_n]$. Every finitely generated graded R-module has a graded free resolution of finite length at most n.

Before defining Gorenstein ideal, we give some necessary definitions from the dimension theory.

Definition 2.1.7. Let R be a Noetherian ring and I an ideal in R. Let $0 \neq M$ be a finitely generated R-module.

- (i) The Krull dimension of R, dim R = the supremum of the lengths of chain of prime ideals in R.
- (ii) $\operatorname{codim} I = \dim R \dim R/I.$
- (iii) $\operatorname{grade}(I) = \operatorname{grade}(R/I) = \operatorname{grade}(I, R) = \operatorname{the length of a maximal } R$ -sequence in $I = \min\{i | \operatorname{Ext}_R^i(R/I, R) \neq 0\}.$
- (iv) If (R, \mathfrak{m}) is local, depth $M = \text{grade}(\mathfrak{m}, M) = \text{maximal lengths of } M$ -sequence in $\mathfrak{m} = \min\{i | \text{Ext}_R^i(R/\mathfrak{m}, M) \neq 0\}.$

Definition 2.1.8. Let R be a Noetherian local ring and M an finitely generated R-module. M is called *Cohen-Macaulay module* if depth $M = \dim M$. So R is called *Cohen-Macaulay module* over itself.

A Cohen-Macaulay ring R is called *Gorenstein* if dim $\operatorname{Ext}_{R}^{d}(R/\mathfrak{m}, R) = 1$ where $d = \operatorname{depth} R$.

We note that if R is Noetherian ring, R is said to be Gorenstein if the local ring $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is Gorenstein for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} .

Definition 2.1.9. Let R be a Noetherian ring. An ideal $I \subset R$ is called *Gorenstein ideal* of grade g if projdim R/I = grade(I) and $\text{Ext}_R^g(R/I, R) \cong R/I$.

The ideal given in Example 2.1.5 is a homogeneous Gorenstein ideal. Clearly, its minimal free resolution is self-dual.

2.2 Liaison theory

In this section, we look at some ideas from liaison theory in details. Liaison theory, which is also known as *linkage theory*, provides a nice classifications for ideals by links. The main idea is to link an ideal to a complete intersection, in some sense, much "nicer" form of ideal. Many of the results in this theory are developed when the links are complete intersections. This type of linkage is called as *complete intersection liaison*, i.e. CI-liaison. The other part of liaison theory is built on Gorenstein links, which sounds more general than complete intersections. This case of linkage is referred as *Gorenstein liaison*, G-liaison. In this thesis, we always work on Gorenstein links.

Throughout this section R denotes a commutative Noetherian ring that is either local with maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} or graded. In the latter case we assume that $R = \bigoplus_{j\geq 0} [R]_j$ is generated as $[R]_0$ -algebra by $[R]_1$ and $[R]_0$ is a field. We denote by \mathfrak{m} its maximal homogenous ideal $\bigoplus_{j\geq 0} [R]_j$. If R is a graded ring, we consider only homogeneous ideals of R.

Assume that R is a Gorenstein ring.

Definition 2.2.1. An ideal $I \subset R$ is said to be (directly) *linked* to an ideal $J \subset R$ by a Gorenstein ideal $\mathfrak{c} \subset R$ if $\mathfrak{c} \subset I \cap J$ and $\mathfrak{c} : I = J$ and $\mathfrak{c} : J = I$.

Symbolically, we write $I \sim_{\mathfrak{c}} J$.

Liaison is the equivalence relation generated by linkage. The equivalence classes are called *liaison classes*. We always work in this generality. For a comprehensive introduction to liaison theory we refer to [24].

It is not difficult to show that all complete intersections of a fixed grade are in the same liaison class. Much more is true.

Theorem 2.2.2. All Gorenstein ideals of R of grade g are in the same liaison class.

This has been shown in [9] for non-Artinian homogeneous Gorenstein ideals in a polynomial ring. However, the arguments work in this generality.

From now on we focus on graded rings as the results hold analogously for local rings if one forgets the grading.

Let R be a graded Gorenstein ring, and let M be a graded R-module.

Definition 2.2.3. The *canonical module* of M, ω_M is a graded R-module which is defined as $[R]_0$ -dual of the local cohomology module $H_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\dim M}(M)$. That is,

$$\omega_M = \operatorname{Hom}_R(H^{\dim M}_{\mathfrak{m}}(M), [R]_0).$$

As R is a graded Gorenstein ring, $\omega_R \cong R(s)$ with some integer s shift. By duality property, there is a graded isomorphism

$$\omega_M \cong \operatorname{Ext}^g_R(M, R)(s), \text{ where } g = \dim R - \dim M.$$

Therefore if I is a Gorenstein ideal in R, then $\omega_{R/I} \cong R/I(u)$ for some integer u by Definition 2.1.9, since $\omega_{R/I} \cong \operatorname{Ext}_R^g(R/I, R) \cong R/I$ where $g = \operatorname{grade}(I)$.

The following lemma gives us a very important short exact sequence.

Lemma 2.2.4. [25, Lemma 3.5] If the ideals I and J are linked by a Gorenstein ideal \mathfrak{c} , there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathfrak{c} \hookrightarrow I \to \omega_{R/J}(-s) \to 0, \tag{2.1}$$

where s is the integer such that $\omega_{R/\mathfrak{c}} \cong R/\mathfrak{c}(s)$.

For example, this sequence implies that R/J is Cohen-Macaulay if R/I has this property, and that the mapping cone procedure can be used to derive a free resolution of $\omega_{R/J}$ from the resolutions of I and \mathfrak{c} , and thus of J by dualizing (see [28]). Because of its importance we recall the mapping cone procedure (see, e.g., [30]).

Lemma 2.2.5. Suppose that

$$\mathbb{F}: \ 0 \ \to F_n \ \xrightarrow{d_n^M} F_{n-1} \ \to \dots \ \to F_i \ \xrightarrow{d_i^M} \dots \ \to F_1 \ \xrightarrow{d_1^M} F_0 \ \to M \ \to 0$$
$$\mathbb{G}: \ 0 \ \to G_n \ \xrightarrow{d_n^N} G_{n-1} \ \to \dots \ \to G_i \ \xrightarrow{d_i^N} \dots \ \to G_1 \ \xrightarrow{d_1^N} G_0 \ \to N \ \to 0$$

are graded free resolutions of M and N, respectively.

Let

$$0 \longrightarrow M \xrightarrow{\alpha} N \longrightarrow K \longrightarrow 0$$

be a short exact sequence of graded R-modules. Then α induces a comparison map $\varphi : \mathbb{F} \to \mathbb{G}$. Its mapping cone is the following graded free resolution of K:

An analysis of the mapping cone procedure implies the following result by Buchsbaum-Eisenbud [7] and Peskine-Szpiro [28].

Lemma 2.2.6. Let c be a Gorenstein ideal of R. Then

- (a) If R/I is Gorenstein and $\mathfrak{c} \subsetneq I$ with $\operatorname{grade}(\mathfrak{c}) = \operatorname{grade}(I)$, then $J = \mathfrak{c} : I$ is perfect with at most one more minimal generator than \mathfrak{c} .
- (b) Let $J \subset R$ be a perfect ideal such that $\mathfrak{c} \subsetneq J$, $\operatorname{grade}(\mathfrak{c}) = \operatorname{grade}(J)$, and all minimal generators of \mathfrak{c} are also minimal generators of J. If J has one more minimal generator than \mathfrak{c} , then $I = \mathfrak{c} : J$ is a Gorenstein ideal.

In Case (b), if \mathfrak{c} is a complete intersection, then J is an almost complete intersection, that is, I has g + 1 minimal generators, where $g = \operatorname{grade} I$.

2.3 Construction of Gorenstein Ideals

In this section we use liaison to produce a homogeneous Gorenstein ideal starting from two given homogeneous Gorenstein ideals. This also allows us to relate the Hilbert functions of the involved ideals.

Let R be a graded Gorenstein ring. Let \mathfrak{a} and $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{a}$ be homogeneous Gorenstein ideals in R of grade g and g-1, respectively. Let

$$\mathbb{A}: 0 \longrightarrow A_g = R(-v) \xrightarrow{a_g} A_{g-1} \xrightarrow{a_{g-1}} \dots \longrightarrow A_1 \xrightarrow{a_1} R \longrightarrow 0$$

and

$$\mathbb{B}: 0 \longrightarrow B_{g-1} = R(-u) \xrightarrow{b_{g-1}} \dots \longrightarrow B_1 \xrightarrow{b_1} R \longrightarrow 0$$

be graded minimal free resolutions of R/\mathfrak{a} and R/\mathfrak{b} respectively. The embedding $\mathfrak{b} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{a}$ induces the following commutative diagram:

Fixing bases for all the free modules, we identify the maps with their coordinate matrices. Using these assumptions and notation, the main result of this section is as following.

Theorem 2.3.1. [16] Assume $d = u - v \ge 0$. Let $y \in \mathfrak{a}$ be a homogeneous element such that $\mathfrak{b} : y = \mathfrak{b}$. The embedding $\mu : (\mathfrak{b}, y) \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{a}$ induces an *R*-module homomorphism $\omega_{R/\mathfrak{a}} \to \omega_{R/(\mathfrak{b},y)}$ that is multiplication by some homogeneous element $\omega \in R$. Its degree is $d + \deg y$.

Assume there is a homogeneous element $f \in R$ of degree d such that $\mathfrak{b} : (\omega + fy) = \mathfrak{b}$. Consider the ideal I obtained from \mathfrak{a} by the two links

$$\mathfrak{a} \sim_{(\mathfrak{b},y)} J \sim_{(\mathfrak{b},\omega+fy)} I,$$

that is, $I = (\mathfrak{b}, \omega + fy) : [(\mathfrak{b}, y) : \mathfrak{a}]$. Then I is a Gorenstein ideal with the same grade as \mathfrak{a} . It can be written as

$$I = \mathfrak{b} + (\alpha_{g-1}^* + (-1)^g f a_g^*) = (\mathfrak{b}, \alpha_{g-1}^* + (-1)^g f a_g^*),$$

where α_{g-1}^* and a_g^* are interpreted as row vectors and "+" indicates their componentwise sum whose entries, together with generators of \mathfrak{b} , generate I.

Proof. As in the proof of the Lemma 2.2.6, we use the mapping cone procedure repeatedly. Multiplication by y induces a short exact sequence

 $0 \to R/\mathfrak{b}(-e) \to R/\mathfrak{b} \to R/(\mathfrak{b},y) \to 0,$

where $e = \deg y$. Thus, we obtain a minimal graded free resolution \mathbb{B}' of (\mathfrak{b}, y) :

$$\mathbb{B}' : 0 \to R(-u-e) \xrightarrow{d_g} \begin{array}{c} R(-u) & B_1 \\ \oplus & \oplus \\ B_{g-2}(-e) & R(-e) \end{array} \xrightarrow{d_1} R \to (\mathfrak{b}, y) \to 0,$$

where

$$d_1 = \begin{bmatrix} b_1 & y \end{bmatrix}, \ d_g = \begin{bmatrix} (-1)^{g-1}y \\ b_{g-1} \end{bmatrix}, \ \text{ and } d_i = \begin{bmatrix} b_i & (-1)^{i-1}yI_{m_{i-1}} \\ 0 & b_{i-1} \end{bmatrix} \text{ if } 2 \le i < g.$$

Here I_{m_i} denotes the identity matrix with $m_i = \operatorname{rank} B_i$ rows.

Using this resolution, the embedding $\mu : (\mathfrak{b}, y) \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{a}$ induces the following commutative diagram

where the maps have the form

$$\mu_i = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_i & | & r_i \end{bmatrix}_{n_i \times (m_i + m_{i-1})}$$

The commutativity of the diagrams shows that α_i is an $n_i \times m_i$ matrix and r_i is an $n_i \times m_{i-1}$ satisfying $a_i r_i = (-1)^{i-1} y \alpha_{i-1} + r_{i-1} b_{i-1}$. One can notice that

$$\mu_g = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_g = 0 & | & r_g \end{bmatrix} = r_g \in R \text{ where } a_g r_g = (-1)^{g-1} y \alpha_{g-1} + r_{g-1} b_{g-1}$$

Commutativity of the diagrams also give information about the degrees of the maps μ_i 's and r_i 's. First $a_1r_1 = y$ implies deg $r_1 = e - \deg a_1$. Then, $a_2r_2 = r_1b_1 - y\alpha_1$ gives deg $r_2 = e + \deg b_1 - \deg a_1 - \deg a_2$. When we continue this till we get

$$a_i r_i = (-1)^{i-1} y \alpha_{i-1} + r_{i-1} b_{i-1}.$$

It follows that

$$\deg r_i = e + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} \deg b_k - \sum_{k=1}^{i} \deg a_k \text{ for all } i = 1, 2, ..., g.$$

Therefore,

$$\deg \mu_g = e + \sum_{k=1}^{g-1} \deg b_k - \sum_{k=1}^g \deg a_k$$
$$= e + u - v$$
$$= e + d.$$

Thus the map μ_g is a multiplication by an element of degree d + e. We identify this element by ω .

The mapping cone $C(\mu)$ of $\mu : \mathbb{B}' \to \mathbb{A}$ is

where the maps are

$$\partial_1 = \begin{bmatrix} a_2 & \mu_1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a_2 & \alpha_1 & r_1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \partial_g = \begin{bmatrix} \mu_g \\ -d_g \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} r_g \\ (-1)^g y \\ -b_{g-1} \end{bmatrix},$$

and
$$\partial_i = \begin{bmatrix} a_{i+1} & \mu_i \\ 0 & -d_i \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{i+1} & \alpha_i & r_i \\ 0 & -b_i & (-1)^i y I_{m_{i-1}} \\ 0 & 0 & -b_{i-1} \end{bmatrix} \text{ if } 2 \le i < g.$$

The Sequence (2.1) shows that $C(\mu)$ gives a free resolution of a shift of the canonical module of R/J. Now, dualization of $C(\mu)$ provides the following complex;

Hence, the dualized and shifted complex $C(\mu)^*(-u - \deg y)$

$$\begin{array}{cccc} A_{2}^{*}(-u-e) & A_{i+1}^{*}(-u-e) & R(v-u-e) \\ & \oplus & & \oplus & \\ 0 \rightarrow A_{1}^{*}(-u-e) \xrightarrow{\partial_{1}^{*}} & B_{1}^{*}(-u-e) \rightarrow \dots \rightarrow & B_{i}^{*}(-u-e) & \xrightarrow{\partial_{i}^{*}} & \dots \rightarrow & R(-e) & \xrightarrow{\partial_{g}^{*}} & R \rightarrow 0 \\ & \oplus & & \oplus & \\ & R(-u) & B_{i-1}^{*}(-u) & B_{g-2}^{*}(-u) \end{array}$$

provides a graded free resolution of $J = (\mathfrak{b}, y, \omega)$. The dual maps are $\partial_i^* = \partial_i^t$, for i = 1, 2, ..., g. So $\partial_g^* = \begin{bmatrix} \mu_g & (-1)^g y & -b_{g-1}^t \end{bmatrix}$. So by lemma 2.2.6 part (a), the ideal generated by ∂_g^* , which is $J := (\mathfrak{b}, y, \omega)$, is CM of grade g with a graded free resolution $C(\mu)^*(-u-e)$. One should notice that we do not claim that the stated generating set of J is minimal.

By assumption, there is a homogeneous element $f \in R$ of degree $u - v = d \ge 0$ such that $z := \omega + fy$ is regular in R/\mathfrak{b} . Hence, (\mathfrak{b}, z) is a Gorenstein ideal of grade g in J. Consider now the second link

$$J \sim_{(\mathfrak{b},\omega+fy)} I.$$

We know that $A_i^*(-v) = A_{g-i} = A_i(v)$ and $B_i^*(-u) = B_{g-1-i} = B_i(u)$ since \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} are Gorenstein of grades g and g-1, respectively. Thus, this helps to observe the following comparison map ξ from the resolution of $R/(\mathfrak{b}, z)$ to $C(\mu)^*(-u-e)$. As in the case of the ideal (\mathfrak{b}, y) , a mapping cone gives a free resolution of (\mathfrak{b}, z) . Thus, the embedding $\xi : (\mathfrak{b}, z) \hookrightarrow J$ induces the following commutative diagram:

where the maps are

$$t_1 = \begin{bmatrix} b_1 & z \end{bmatrix}, \ t_g = \begin{bmatrix} (-1)^{g-1}z \\ b_{g-1} \end{bmatrix}, \ \text{ and } t_i = \begin{bmatrix} b_i & (-1)^{i-1}zI_{m_{i-1}} \\ 0 & b_{i-1} \end{bmatrix} \text{ if } 2 \le i < g.$$

Since $J = (\mathfrak{b}, y, \omega + fy)$, we can choose the following coordinate matrix for ξ_1 :

		1		m_1	$m_1 + 1$
	1	Γ	0		1]
	2		0		$(-1)^{g}f$
~	3				0
$\xi_1 =$	÷		γ_1		÷
	÷		/ 1		÷
	$m_1 + 2$	L			0

where the matrix γ_1 is invertible.

By Sequence (2.1), the mapping cone $C(\xi)$ gives a free resolution of (a shift of) the canonical module R/I. Using the self-duality of the free resolutions \mathbb{A} and \mathbb{B} ,

 $C(\xi)$ can be re-written as

$$B_{1}$$

$$\oplus$$

$$R(-u) \qquad R(-\deg z) \qquad R(-\deg z)$$

$$0 \rightarrow B_{g-1}(-\deg z) \xrightarrow{l_{g}} B_{g-2}(-\deg z) \rightarrow \dots \rightarrow A_{1}(-\deg z) \xrightarrow{l_{1}} R(-e) , \quad (2.4)$$

$$\oplus$$

$$A_{g-1}(-\deg z) \qquad B_{1}(-e) \qquad B_{1}$$

$$\oplus$$

$$B_{2}$$

where

$$l_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \partial_g^* & \xi_1 \end{bmatrix}$$

Since the matrix γ_1 and the upper right entry of ξ_1 are invertible, the cokernel of l_1 is isomorphic to coker \bar{l}_1 , where

$$\bar{l}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_{g-1}^* + (-1)^g f a_g^* & b_{g-1}^* \end{bmatrix} : A_1(-\deg z) \oplus B_1(-e) \oplus B_2 \to R(-e).$$

It follows that the canonical module of R/I has only one minimal generator. Hence, I is a Gorenstein ideal and coker $\bar{l}_1 \cong (R/I)(-e)$. The latter implies the claimed description of a generating set of the ideal I.

Notice that a "sufficiently general" choice of the element f always gives a desired element $\omega + fy$ in Theorem 2.3.1, at least if the field $k = R/\mathfrak{m}$ is infinite.

We illustrate the result by a simple example.

Example 2.3.2. Consider the complete intersections $\mathfrak{a} = (x, y, z)$ and $\mathfrak{b} = (x^2 - z^2, y^2 - z^2)$ in the polynomial ring k[x, y, z], where k is a field of characteristic zero. Linking \mathfrak{a} by $\mathfrak{b} + (z^2)$, we get as residual $J = \mathfrak{b} + (z^2, xyz)$. Choosing f = 5z, we link J by $\mathfrak{b} + (xyz + fz^2)$ to

$$I = \mathfrak{b} + (xf + yz, yf + xz, zf + xy) = (x^2 - z^2, y^2 - z^2, xz, yz, xy + 5z^2).$$

Observe that for the second link we cannot take f = z because $xyz + z^3$ is a zero divisor modulo \mathfrak{b} .

The next proposition shows that similar techniques as in Theorem 2.3.1 could help to construct Cohen Macaulay ideals of certain types.

Proposition 2.3.3. Let \mathfrak{a} be a homogeneous Cohen Macaulay (CM) ideal of type t and $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{a}$ be a homogeneous Gorenstein ideal with grade(\mathfrak{a}) = 1 + grade(\mathfrak{b}).

Suppose $y \in \mathfrak{a}$ be a regular element in R/\mathfrak{b} and then there is row vector $(w_1, w_2, ..., w_t)$ with $\deg(w_t) \ge \deg(w_i)$ for all i = 1, ..., t - 1 and $\deg(w_t) \ge \deg(y)$. If

$$\mathfrak{a} \sim_{(\mathfrak{b},y)} (\mathfrak{b}, y, w_1, w_2, ..., w_t) \sim_{(\mathfrak{b}, w_t + \sum\limits_{i=1}^{t-1} g_i w_i + fy)} I$$

where g_i 's and f are homogeneous elements with $\deg(f) = \deg(w_t) - \deg(y)$ and $\deg(g_i) = \deg(w_t) - \deg(w_i)$ such that $\mathfrak{b} : w_t + \sum_{i=1}^{t-1} g_i w_i + fy = \mathfrak{b}$, then I is a homogeneous CM ideal of type t.

Proof. As the statement is a generalization of Theorem 2.3.1 we follow the same path as in the proof of 2.3.1. Say $g = \text{grade}(\mathfrak{a})$. As the ideal \mathfrak{a} is a CM ideal of type t, the last free module of the minimal free resolution of R/\mathfrak{a} is

$$A_g = \bigoplus_{i=1}^t R(-v_i).$$

Say $e = \deg y$. Then the comparison map between the minimal free resolutions of $R/(\mathfrak{b}, y)$ and R/\mathfrak{a} becomes

Thus, the last map is a column vector,

$$\mu_g = \begin{bmatrix} w_1 \\ w_2 \\ \vdots \\ w_t \end{bmatrix}$$

where deg $w_i = u + \text{deg}(y) - v_i = u + e - v_i$ and deg $w_t \ge \text{deg } w_i$, for i = 1, ..., t - 1. Then as in the proof of the Proposition 2.3.1, dual of the mapping cone of μ gives a free resolution for a CM ideal J which has t more minimal generator than (\mathfrak{b}, y) . That is,

$$J = (\mathfrak{b}, y, w_1, w_2, ..., w_t).$$

Say

$$z := w_t + \sum_{i=1}^{t-1} g_i w_i + f y$$

where g_i and f are homogeneous elements in R with degrees $\deg(g_i) = \deg(w_t) - \deg(w_i)$ and $\deg(f) = \deg(w_t) - e$ such that $\mathfrak{b} : z = \mathfrak{b}$. Therefore, $\deg z = \deg w_t$.

Now consider the following comparison map ξ ;

Then the mapping cone ξ gives a free resolution for the canonical module of the desired ideal I, say $\omega_{R/I}$;

As we expected, the cancellations at the beginning are followed by the fact that the ideal J can be also written as

$$J = (\mathfrak{b}, y, w_1, \dots, w_{t-1}, \underbrace{w_t + \sum_{i=1}^{t-1} g_i w_i + fy}_{z}) \supseteq (\mathfrak{b}, \underbrace{w_t + \sum_{i=1}^{t-1} g_i w_i + fy}_{z}).$$

Hence the linkage implies that the ideal $I = \operatorname{Im} l_g^* = \operatorname{Im} \begin{bmatrix} \xi_g^* & (-1)^g z & -b_{g-1} \end{bmatrix}$ is CM with the same grade as \mathfrak{a} and I is CM of type t since $\omega_{R/I}$ has t minimal generators.

Using basic properties of links, we conclude this section by relating the Hilbert function of I to the Hilbert functions of \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} .

Corollary 2.3.4. Adopt the notation and assumptions of Theorem 2.3.1. Then, for all integers j, the Hilbert function of R/I is given by

$$\mathfrak{h}_{R/I}(j) = \mathfrak{h}_{R/\mathfrak{a}}(j-d) + \mathfrak{h}_{R/\mathfrak{b}}(j) - \mathfrak{h}_{R/\mathfrak{b}}(j-d).$$

Proof. In the proof of Theorem 2.3.1 we have seen that the mapping cone (2.4) gives the following short exact sequence;

$$0 \longrightarrow (R/I)(-e) \longrightarrow R/(\mathfrak{b}, z) \longrightarrow R/J \longrightarrow 0,$$

where deg z = d + e. Furthermore, by symmetry of liaison, the first link provides $(\mathfrak{b}, y) : \omega = \mathfrak{a}$. This implies the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow (R/\mathfrak{a})(-e-d) \longrightarrow R/(\mathfrak{b},y) \longrightarrow R/J \longrightarrow 0.$$

Combining the above two sequences we deduce

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{h}_{R/I}(j) &= \mathfrak{h}_{R/(\mathfrak{b},z)}(j+e) - \mathfrak{h}_{R/J}(j+e) \\ &= \mathfrak{h}_{R/(\mathfrak{b},z)}(j+e) - \mathfrak{h}_{R/(\mathfrak{b},y)}(j+e) + \mathfrak{h}_{R/\mathfrak{a}}(j-d) \\ &= -\mathfrak{h}_{R/\mathfrak{b}}(j-d) + \mathfrak{h}_{R/\mathfrak{b}}(j) + \mathfrak{h}_{R/\mathfrak{a}}(j-d), \end{split}$$

as claimed.

2.4The Kustin-Miller construction in graded rings

In the previous section we have seen that the Complex (2.4) provides a free resolution of the Gorenstein ideal I, constructed in Theorem 2.3.1. However, this resolution is not minimal if $g \geq 3$. In this Section we construct a smaller resolution of I by modifying the approach of Kustin and Miller in [22].

Theorem 2.4.1. [16] Adopt the notation and assumptions of Theorem 2.3.1. Then there is an short exact sequence of graded R-modules

$$0 \longrightarrow (\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b})(-d) \longrightarrow R/\mathfrak{b} \longrightarrow R/I \longrightarrow 0.$$

Moreover, the ideal I has a graded free resolution of the form

$$0 \rightarrow B_{g-1}(-d) \rightarrow \begin{array}{ccc} B_{g-2} & B_2 \\ \oplus & \oplus & \oplus \\ B_{g-2}(-d) \rightarrow & \oplus \\ B_{g-2}(-d) \rightarrow & A_{g-2}(-d) \rightarrow \\ B_{g-2}(-d) & \oplus \\ B_{g-3}(-d) & B_1(-d) \end{array} \rightarrow \begin{array}{c} B_1 \\ \oplus & B_1 \\ \oplus & A_1(-d) \\ B_1(-d) \end{array} \rightarrow \begin{array}{c} B_1 \\ \oplus \\ A_1(-d) \end{array} \rightarrow \begin{array}{c} B_1 \\ \oplus \\ A_1(-d) \end{array} \rightarrow \begin{array}{c} B_1 \\ \oplus \\ $

where the maps are described in the proof below.

Proof. We follow the approach in [22], but adjust it suitably. Thus, we focus on the needed modifications and refer for more details to [22].

First, the mapping cone \mathbb{M} of $\alpha : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{A}$ gives the exact sequence:

-

$$\mathbb{M}: 0 \to \bigoplus_{B_{g-1}}^{A_g} \to \ldots \to \bigoplus_{B_j}^{A_{j+1}} \xrightarrow{\begin{bmatrix} a_{j+1} & \alpha_j \\ 0 & -b_j \end{bmatrix}}_{B_j} \xrightarrow{A_{j+1}} \to \ldots \to \bigoplus_{B_1}^{A_2} \xrightarrow{\begin{bmatrix} a_2 & \alpha_1 \end{bmatrix}}_{B_1} A_1 \to \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b}$$

$$(2.5)$$

Second, by [7, Proposition 1.1], the resolutions \mathbb{A} and \mathbb{B} admit a DGC algebra structure. These induce perfect pairings $B_i \times B_{g-1-i} \to B_g$ and $A_i \times A_{g-i} \to A_g$. We use the former to define the composition

$$\beta : \mathbb{A} \xrightarrow{\gamma} Hom_R(\mathbb{A}, R)(-v) \xrightarrow{\alpha^*[1]} Hom_R(\mathbb{B}, R)(-v)[-1] \xrightarrow{\rho} \mathbb{B}(d)[-1]$$

with the following commutative diagrams and ρ and γ are the isomorphisms induced by multiplicative structure of \mathbb{B} and \mathbb{A} respectively.

where $\beta_i := \rho_i \circ \alpha_{g-i}^* \circ \gamma_i$ for every i = 1, 2, ..., g. Therefore, the degree d homomorphisms $\beta_i : A_i \to B_{i-1}(d)$ map $x_i \in A_i$ on the unique element $\beta_i(x_i)$ such that, for all $z_{g-i} \in B_{g-i}$,

$$\beta_i(x_i) \cdot z_{g-i} = (-1)^{i+1} x_i \cdot \alpha_{g-i}(z_{g-i})$$
(2.7)

in $A_g = B_{g-1}(d)$. It follows that

$$\beta_1(x_1) = x_1 \cdot \alpha_{g-1}(1_{B_{g-1}}) \tag{2.8}$$

and that β_g is multiplication by the unit $(-1)^{g+1}$. Using the perfect pairings on \mathbb{A} , we also get

$$\beta_i \circ a_{i+1} = b_i \circ \beta_{i+1}. \tag{2.9}$$

Third, there is a map $B_i \otimes B_j \to A_{i+j}$ which maps $z_i \otimes z_j$ to $\alpha_{i+j}(z_i z_j) - (\alpha_i z_i)(\alpha_j z_j)$. This map induces a map of complexes $S_2(\mathbb{B}) \to \mathbb{A}$ which is null homotopic. [22, Lemma 1.1] shows that Diagram (2.2) induces a graded homomorphism of complexes $\xi : \mathbb{B} \otimes \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{A}[1]$ such that, for all $z_i \in B_i$:

- (i) $B_i \otimes B_j \to A_{i+j+1}$ is defined if $i, j \ge 0$,
- (ii) $\xi(z_i \otimes z_j) = (-1)^i \xi(z_j \otimes z_i),$
- (iii) $\xi(z_i \otimes z_i) = 0$ if *i* is odd,
- (iv) $\xi(z_0 \otimes z_i) = 0$, and
- (v) $\alpha_{i+j}(z_i z_j) \alpha_i(z_i) \cdot \alpha_j(z_j) = \xi(b_i(z_i) \otimes z_j) + (-1)^i \xi(z_i \otimes b_j(z_j)) + a_{i+j+1}(\xi(z_i \otimes z_j)).$

Finally, we define a degree d homomorphism of complexes $h : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{B}(d)$ by mapping $z_i \in B_i$ on the unique element $h_i(z_i)$ such that, for all $z_{g-1-i} \in B_{g-1-i}$,

$$h_i(z_i) \cdot z_{g-1-i} = (-1)^{i+1} \xi(z_i \otimes z_{g-1-i}).$$

Notice that the above Condition (iv) implies $h_0 = h_{g-1} = 0$ and by using Condition (v), we compute that

$$\begin{split} [(b_i \circ h_i + h_{i-1} \circ b_i)(y_i)]y_{g-i} &= (b_i \circ h_i(y_i))y_{g-i} + (h_{i-1} \circ b_i(y_i))y_{g-i} \\ &= (-1)^{i+1}h_i(y_i) \circ b_{g-i}(y_{g-i}) + (h_{i-1} \circ b_i(y_i))y_{g-i} \\ &= (-1)^{i+1}h_i(y_i) \circ b_{g-i}(y_{g-i}) + (-1)^i\xi(b_i(y_i) \otimes y_{g-i}) \\ &= \xi(y_i \otimes b_{g-i}(y_{g-i})) + (-1)^i\xi(b_i(y_i) \otimes y_{g-i}) \\ &= \xi(y_i \otimes b_{g-i}(y_{g-i})) + (-1)^i\alpha_g(y_iy_{g-i}) + (-1)^{i+1}(\alpha_i(y_i)\alpha_{g-i}(y_{g-i})) \\ &-\xi(y_i \otimes b_{g-i}(y_{g-i})) - a_{g+1}\xi(y_i \otimes y_{g-i}) \\ &= (-1)^{i+1}\alpha_i(y_i)\alpha_{g-i}(y_{g-i}). \end{split}$$

We also notice that the isomorphisms γ and ρ can be described as follows;

$$\gamma_i = \begin{cases} s_i^{\mathbb{A}} & \text{if } i \equiv 0 \pmod{4} \\ s_i^{\mathbb{A}} & \text{if } i \equiv 1 \pmod{4} \\ -s_i^{\mathbb{A}} & \text{if } i \equiv 2 \pmod{4} \\ -s_i^{\mathbb{A}} & \text{if } i \equiv 3 \pmod{4} \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad \rho_i = \begin{cases} -s_{i-1}^{\mathbb{B}} & \text{if } i \equiv 0 \pmod{4} \\ s_{i-1}^{\mathbb{B}} & \text{if } i \equiv 1 \pmod{4} \\ s_{i-1}^{\mathbb{B}} & \text{if } i \equiv 2 \pmod{4} \\ -s_{i-1}^{\mathbb{B}} & \text{if } i \equiv 3 \pmod{4} \end{cases}$$

where $s_i^{\mathbb{A}}: A_i \to A_{g-i}^*$ and $s_i^{\mathbb{B}}: B_{g-1-i}^* \to B_i$ are isomorphisms induced by multiplications. So the composition $\rho_i \circ \alpha_{g-i}^* \circ \gamma_i$ alternate signs. That is, "+" if *i* is odd, "-" if *i* is even. Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} (\beta_i \alpha_i(y_i))(y_{g-i}) &= (-1)^{i+1} (s_{i-1}^{\mathbb{B}} \circ \alpha_{g-i}^* \circ s_i^{\mathbb{A}}(\alpha_i(y_i)))(y_{g-i}) = (-1)^{i+1} (\alpha_{g-i}^*(s_i^{\mathbb{A}}(\alpha_i(y_i))))y_{g-i}) \\ &= (-1)^{i+1} s_i^{\mathbb{A}}(\alpha_i(y_i))(\alpha_{g-i}(y_{g-i}))) \\ &= (-1)^{i+1} \alpha_i(y_i) \alpha_{g-i}(y_{g-i}). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, it is followed that h satisfies

$$\beta_i \circ \alpha_i = h_{i-1} \circ b_i + b_i \circ h_i. \tag{2.10}$$

Consider now the following diagram with the map $\delta : \mathbb{M}[1] \to \mathbb{B}(d)$ as

$$\delta_i := [\beta_i, h_{i-1} + (-1)^{i-1} f_{i} d_{B_{i-1}}]$$
 for $i = 2, ..., g$ and $\delta_1 = \beta_1 - f a_1$

$$0 \to A_g \oplus B_{g-1} \to \dots \to A_{j+1} \oplus B_j \to \dots \to A_2 \oplus B_1 \xrightarrow{[a_2, \alpha_1]} A_1 \to \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b}$$

$$\downarrow^{[\beta_g, (-1)^g f \operatorname{id}]} \downarrow^{[\beta_{j+1}, h_j + (-1)^{j+1} f \operatorname{id}]} \downarrow^{[\beta_2, h_1 + f \operatorname{id}]} \downarrow^{\beta_1 + f a_1}$$

$$0 \to B_{g-1}(d) \to \dots \to B_j(d) \xrightarrow{b_j} \dots \to B_1(d) \xrightarrow{b_1} R(d) \to (R/\mathfrak{b})(d)$$

$$(2.11)$$

We easily see that

$$\begin{bmatrix} \beta_j, h_{j-1} + (-1)^{j-1} f.id \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{j+1} & \alpha_j \\ 0 & -b_j \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \beta_j a_{j+1}, \beta_j \alpha_j - h_{j-1} b_j + (-1)^j f b_j \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} 2.9 \\ = \\ \beta_j a_{j+1}, \beta_j \alpha_j - h_{j-1} b_j + (-1)^j f b_j \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} 2.10 \\ = \\ \beta_j a_{j+1}, b_j h_j + (-1)^j f b_j \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= b_j \begin{bmatrix} \beta_j a_{j+1}, h_j + (-1)^j f b_j \end{bmatrix}$$

Therefore, all the squares commute

$$A_{j+1} \oplus B_j \xrightarrow{\begin{bmatrix} a_{j+1} & \alpha_j \\ 0 & -b_j \end{bmatrix}} A_j \oplus B_{j-1}$$
$$[\beta_{j+1}, h_j + (-1)^j f.id] \downarrow \qquad [\beta_j, h_{j-1} + (-1)^{j-1} f.id] \downarrow$$
$$B_j(d) \xrightarrow{b_j} B_{j-1}(d)$$

It follows that $\beta_1 + fa_1$ induces a homomorphism $\varphi : \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b} \to (R/\mathfrak{b})(d)$ such that the resulting right-most square in the above diagram also becomes commutative. Thus, the mapping cone gives the chain complex

where the maps are

$$l_1 = \begin{bmatrix} b_1 & \beta_1 + fa_1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad l_2 = \begin{bmatrix} b_2 & \beta_2 & h_1 + f \, \mathrm{id} \\ 0 & -a_2 & -\alpha_1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad l_g = \begin{bmatrix} \beta_g & h_{g-1} + (-1)^g f \, \mathrm{id} \\ -a_g & -\alpha_{g-1} \\ 0 & b_{g-1} \end{bmatrix},$$

and

$$l_i = \begin{bmatrix} b_i & \beta_i & h_{i-1} + (-1)^i f \text{ id} \\ 0 & -a_i & -\alpha_{i-1} \\ 0 & 0 & b_{i-1} \end{bmatrix} \text{ if } 3 \le i \le g-1.$$

Using Equation (2.8), it follows that

$$\operatorname{Im} l_1 = \mathfrak{b} + (\alpha_{q-1}^* + fa_q^*).$$

All this remains true if we replace f by $(-1)^g f$. Then Theorem 2.3.1 shows that $I = \mathfrak{b} + (\alpha_{g-1}^* + (-1)^g f a_g^*)$ is a Gorenstein ideal, and Diagram (2.11) yields that I fits into an exact sequence

$$(\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b})(-d) \xrightarrow{\varphi} R/\mathfrak{b} \longrightarrow R/I \longrightarrow 0$$

It allows us to compute the Hilbert function of ker φ . Comparing with Corollary 2.3.4, we deduce that the kernel of φ is trivial. Hence, we obtain the desired short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow (\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b})(-d) \xrightarrow{\varphi} R/\mathfrak{b} \longrightarrow R/I \longrightarrow 0.$$

Now it follows that the above complex \mathbb{L} gives a free resolution of I(d). Since β_g is multiplication by a unit, we can split off the isomorphic free modules A_g and $B_{g-1}(d)$ in the map l_g . After this cancellation we get a complex that is, up to a degree shift, the claimed free resolution of I.

The free resolution of I we just derived is smaller than the one obtained from the Complex (2.4). In fact, it is often minimal.

Corollary 2.4.2. If the polynomial f is not a unit and each map α_i is minimal whenever $1 \leq i \leq g-1$, that is, $\operatorname{Im} \alpha_i \subset \mathfrak{m} A_i$, then the resolution of I described in Theorem 2.4.1 is a graded minimal free resolution of I.

Proof. Since the maps α_i are minimal, the definition of β_i (see Equation (2.7)) implies that also β_i is a minimal map whenever $1 \leq i \leq g - 1$. Now the description of the maps in the free resolution obtained in Theorem 2.4.1 shows that all its maps between free modules are minimal. Hence, it is a minimal resolution.

The short exact sequence in Theorem 2.4.1 allows us to re-interpret Theorem 2.3.1 in terms of liaison theory. To this end we recall the following definition.

Suppose $J \subset I \cap K$ are homogeneous ideals in R with grade(I) = grade(J) + 1, and J is Cohen-Macaulay and generically Gorenstein. If there is an isomorphism of graded R-modules

$$I/J(-s) \cong K/J,$$

then it is said that K is obtained from I by an *elementary biliaison* on J. It has the same grade as I. (See [21, 24, 17] for more details.)

Using this concept, we get:

Proposition 2.4.3. The homogeneous Gorenstein ideal $I = (\mathfrak{b}, \alpha_{g-1}^* + (-1)^g f a_g^*)$ in Theorem 2.3.1 is obtained from \mathfrak{a} by an elementary biliaison on \mathfrak{b} .

Proof. Theorem 2.4.1 provides the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow (\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b})(-d) \xrightarrow{\varphi} R/\mathfrak{b} \longrightarrow R/I \longrightarrow 0.$$

Thus, we get an isomorphism $\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b}(-d) \cong I/\mathfrak{b}$. Since \mathfrak{b} is Gorenstein the claim follows directly from the definition of an elementary biliaison.

2.5 Decomposing Homogeneous Gorenstein Ideals

So far we have studied the construction of a new homogeneous Gorenstein ideal I of grade g from smaller homogeneous Gorenstein ideals $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{a}$ of grades g - 1 and g, respectively. It is natural to ask when this construction can be reversed. One more precise version of this problem is whether, for given homogeneous Gorenstein ideals I and \mathfrak{a} of grade g, there is a homogeneous Gorenstein ideal $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{a}$ of grade g - 1 such that I can be obtained from \mathfrak{a} by an elementary biliaison on \mathfrak{b} . This question has already been considered in the local case in [22]. We now derive a necessary condition

in the graded case. Recall that the Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity of a homogenous Gorenstein ideal $I \subset R$ is

$$\operatorname{reg} I = \min\{m \mid [H^i_{\mathfrak{m}}(I)]_j = 0 \text{ whenever } i+j > m\},\$$

where $H^i_{\mathfrak{m}}(I)$ denotes the *i*-th local cohomology module with support in \mathfrak{m} . If I has finite projective dimension over R, then its regularity can also be computed from a minimal free resolution as

$$\operatorname{reg} I = \min\{m \mid [\operatorname{Tor}_i^R(I, R/\mathfrak{m})]_j = 0 \text{ whenever } i - j > m\}.$$

Corollary 2.5.1. Let I and \mathfrak{a} be homogeneous Gorenstein ideals of grade g. If reg I – reg \mathfrak{a} is not even, then there is no homogeneous Gorenstein ideal $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{a}$ such that I can be obtained from \mathfrak{a} by an elementary biliaison on \mathfrak{b} .

Proof. From the degree shift of the last free module in the minimal free resolution of \mathfrak{a} , we see (using the notation in Diagram (2.2)) that

$$\operatorname{reg} \mathfrak{a} = v - g + 1.$$

If I is obtained from \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} as in Theorem 2.3.1, then the free resolution of I described in Theorem 2.4.1 gives

$$\operatorname{reg} I = u + d - g + 1.$$

It follows that

$$\operatorname{reg} I - \operatorname{reg} \mathfrak{a} = u - v + d = 2d.$$

This implies the assertion.

Now we give an example whic provides also a partial answer of the question. It shows that given homogeneous Gorenstein ideal cannot be decomposed as in Theorem 2.3.1.

We conclude with an example of a Gorenstein ideal that cannot be produced using the construction of Theorem 2.3.1 with a strictly ascending biliaison.

Example 2.5.2. Let *I* be a generic Artinian Gorenstein ideal in $R = K[x_1, \ldots, x_5]$ with *h*-vector (1, 5, 5, 1), where *K* is an infinite field. It has the least possible Betti numbers. More precisely, its graded minimal free resolution is pure and has the form

$$0 \to R(-8) \to R^{10}(-6) \to R^{16}(-5) \to R^{16}(-3) \to R^{10}(-2) \to I \to 0.$$
 (2.13)

We claim that there are no Gorenstein ideals \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} to produce I using a biliaison as in Theorem 2.3.1 that is strictly ascending, i.e., d > 0 or, equivalently, \mathfrak{a} has smaller regularity than I.

Indeed, to see this assume such ideals \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} do exist. Since reg I = 4, this forces reg $\mathfrak{a} = 2$ by Corollary 2.5.1. It follows that the *h*-vector of R/\mathfrak{a} must be (1, 1). Hence, possible after a change of coordinates, we may assume

$$\mathfrak{a} = (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5^2).$$

Thus, Corollary 2.3.4 gives that R/\mathfrak{b} has h-vector (1, 4, 4, 1). Its graded minimal free resolution has the form

$$0 \longrightarrow R(-7) \longrightarrow \begin{array}{c} R^{6}(-5) & R^{5+c}(-4) & R^{c}(-3) \\ \oplus & \oplus & \oplus \\ R^{c}(-4) & R^{5+c}(-3) & R^{6}(-2) \end{array} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{b} \longrightarrow 0,$$

where c is some non-negative integer. By Theorem 2.4.1, we have the following short exact sequence of graded R-modules

$$0 \longrightarrow (\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b})(-1) \longrightarrow R/\mathfrak{b} \longrightarrow R/I \longrightarrow 0.$$

Consider now the comparison map between the resolutions of $(\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b})(-1)$ and R/\mathfrak{b} in homological degree two. Using the notation of the proof of Theorem 2.4.1, it is

$$A_3(-1) \oplus B_2(-1) \xrightarrow{[\beta_3,h_2-f \,\mathrm{id}]} B_2 = R^{5+c}(-4) \oplus R^{5+c}(-3)$$

Since deg f = 1, the map $h_2 - f$ id is minimal. Moreover, notice that $A_3(-1) = R^4(-4) \oplus R^6(-5)$. Considering the map β_3 in degree 4, the mapping cone procedure implies that $[\operatorname{Tor}_2^R(R/I, K)]_4 \neq 0$. Hence I does not have a pure resolution as in (2.13), which completes the argument.

Using our description of the minimal free resolution in Theorem 2.4.1, we show in Example 2.5.2 above that there is a Gorenstein ideal I that cannot be obtained by the construction in Theorem 2.3.1 if reg $\mathfrak{a} < \operatorname{reg} I$. In general, it is open when a given Gorenstein ideal can be produced by an elementary biliaison as in Theorem 2.3.1.

2.6 Examples

We describe various examples for the construction in Theorem 2.3.1. We begin with the easiest case, where \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} are complete intersection ideals. It extends Example 2.3.2. This case has also been discussed in the spirit of the original Kustin-Miller construction in [26, Section 4].

Example 2.6.1. Let R be a graded Gorenstein ring, and let h_1, \ldots, h_g and p_1, \ldots, p_{g-1} be regular sequences of homogeneous elements such that

$$\mathfrak{b} = (p_1, \ldots, p_{g-1}) \subset (h_1, \ldots, h_g) = \mathfrak{a}.$$

Then there is a homogeneous $g \times (g-1)$ matrix M such that (as matrices)

$$(p_1 \ldots p_{g-1}) = (h_1 \ldots h_g) \cdot M.$$

Setting $u = \sum \deg p_i$ and $v = \sum \deg h_j$, we get the following comparison map between the graded minimal free resolutions of R/\mathfrak{a} and R/\mathfrak{b}

Denote by M_i the square matrix obtained by deleting row i of M. Then, by Theorem 2.3.1, for a sufficiently general $f \in R$ of degree $d = v - u \ge 0$, the ideal

$$I = (p_1, \dots, p_{g-1}, \det M_1 + fh_1, \dots, \det M_g + fh_g)$$

is a homogeneous Gorenstein ideal of grade g. Moreover, if no entry of the matrix M is a unit, then the graded free resolution of I described in Theorem 2.4.1 is minimal. In particular, then I has 2g - 1 minimal generators.

We can be more explicit in the following special case. Assume x_1, x_2, \dots, x_g is a regular sequence of homogeneous elements in R. Consider $\mathfrak{b} = (x_1^{m_1}, x_2^{m_2}, \dots, x_{g-1}^{m_{g-1}}) \subset (x_1^{n_1}, x_2^{n_2}, \dots, x_g^{n_g}) = \mathfrak{a}$ and assume $d := \sum_{i=1}^{g-1} m_i - \sum_{i=1}^{g} n_i \geq 0$. Then, for a sufficiently general $f \in R$ of degree d,

$$I = (x_1^{m_1}, \cdots, x_{g-1}^{m_{g-1}}, fx_1^{n_1}, \cdots, fx_{g-1}^{n_{g-1}}, c + fx_g^{n_g})$$

is a Gorenstein ideal, where $c = \prod_{j=1}^{g-1} x_j^{m_j - n_j}$. Moreover, if $m_j > n_j$ for each $j = 1, \ldots, g-1$, then the resolution in Theorem 2.4.1 is a minimal free resolution of I.

In the next example we show that all the Gorenstein ideals with socle degree two can be obtained by one elementary biliaison from a complete intersection.

Example 2.6.2. Consider the Artinian Gorenstein ideals $I \subset R = K[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ with *h*-vector (1, n, 1), where K is a field. These ideals have been classified by Sally in [29, Theorem 1.1]. Each such ideal is of the form

$$I = (x_i x_j \mid 1 \le i < j \le n) + (x_1^2 - c_1 x_n^2, \dots, x_{n-1}^2 - c_{n-1} x_n^2),$$

where $c_1, \ldots, c_{n-1} \in K$ are suitable units. It can be obtained by an elementary biliaison as in Theorem 2.3.1 from $\mathfrak{a} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ on $\mathfrak{b}R$, where \mathfrak{b} is such a Sally ideal in n-1 variables. More precisely, define the ideal \mathfrak{b} as

$$\mathbf{b} = (x_i x_j \mid 1 \le i < j \le n-1) + (x_1^2 - \frac{c_1}{c_{n-1}} x_{n-1}^2, \dots, x_{n-2}^2 - \frac{c_{n-2}}{c_{n-1}} x_{n-1}^2).$$

Then it is not too difficult to see that there are the following links

$$\mathfrak{a} \sim_{(\mathfrak{b},x_n)} (\mathfrak{b},x_n,x_{n-1}^2) \sim_{(\mathfrak{b},x_{n-1}^2-c_{n-1}x_n^2)} I.$$

Note that $(\mathfrak{b}, x_n, x_{n-1}^2) = (x_1, \dots, x_{n-1})^2 + (x_n).$

The following classical example has been studied from various points of view.

Example 2.6.3. Let $M = (x_{ij})$ be a generic $n \times n$ matrix, where $n \ge 2$.

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 & \cdots & x_n \\ x_{n+1} & \cdots & x_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{n(n-1)+1} & \cdots & x_{n^2} \end{bmatrix}_{n \times n}.$$

The ideal $I = I_{n-1}(M)$ in K[M], generated by the submaximal minors of M is a Gorenstein ideal of grade four. Its graded minimal free resolution is given by the Gulliksen-Negard complex (see [14]):

$$0 \to R(-2n) \to R^{n^2}(-n-1) \to R^{2(n^2-1)}(-n) \to R^{n^2}(-n+1) \to I \to 0.$$

Kustin and Miller show that this resolution can be obtained by using their original construction (see [22, Example 2.4]). Gorla [13] studies these ideals from a liaison-theoretic point of view. Here we make the linkage steps more explicit.

If n = 2, then I is a complete intersection. Assume $n \ge 3$, and let N be the generic $(n-1) \times (n-1)$ obtained from M by deleting its last row and column.

$$N = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 & \cdots & x_{n-1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{n(n-2)+1} & \cdots & x_{n(n-1)-1} \end{bmatrix}_{(n-1)\times(n-1)}$$

Its $(n-2) \times (n-2)$ minors generate a homogeneous Gorenstein ideal $\mathfrak{a} = I_{n-2}(N)$ of grade 4. Denote by $M_{i,j}$ the $(n-1) \times (n-1)$ minor of M obtained by deleting row i and column j. The ideal

$$\mathbf{b} = (M_{1,n}, M_{2,n}, \cdots, M_{n-1,n}, M_{n,1}, \cdots, M_{n,n-1})$$

is a Gorenstein ideal of grade three (see, e.g, [22, Example 2.4]). Sylvester's identity implies that (see, the proof of Theorem 3.1 in [13]):

$$N_{1,1} \cdot I + \mathfrak{b} = M_{1,1} \cdot \mathfrak{a} + \mathfrak{b}.$$

It follows that there are the following links

$$\mathfrak{a} \sim_{(\mathfrak{b},N_{1,1})} (\mathfrak{b},N_{1,1},M_{1,1}) \sim_{(\mathfrak{b},M_{1,1})} I.$$

Hence I can be obtained from **a** by an ascending biliaison on **b** as described in Theorem 2.3.1. Repeating the construction, we see that I can be obtained from the complete intersection $(x_{11}, x_{12}, x_{21}, x_{22})$ by (n - 2) such ascending biliaisons.

Now we consider some Gorenstein ideals with 9 generators and 16 syzygies. Such Gorenstein ideals are investigated in depth from the point of view of unprojections in [5].

Example 2.6.4. Let R = K[a, b, c, d, e, f, x, y, z] be a polynomial ring in 9 variables over a field K. Consider a generic 3×3 symmetric matrix A and a generic skew-symmetric matrix B:

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} a & b & c \\ b & d & e \\ c & e & f \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } B = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x & y \\ -x & 0 & z \\ -y & -z & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then, for $\lambda \neq 0$ in K, define a 6×6 skew-symmetric matrix $N = \begin{bmatrix} B & A \\ -A & \lambda B \end{bmatrix}$. It is called "extrasymmetric" in [5, 6] because it is obtained from a generic skew-symmetric matrix by specializing some of the variables. The ideal \mathfrak{a} generated by the 4×4 Pfaffians of N is a homogeneous Gorenstein ideal of grade 4:

$$\mathfrak{a} = (b^2 - ad + \lambda x^2, bc - ae + \lambda xy, c^2 - af + \lambda y^2, cd - be + \lambda xz, ce - bf + \lambda yz, e^2 - df + \lambda z^2, cx - by + az, ex - dy + bz, fx - ey + cz).$$

It is the defining ideal of the Segre embedding of $\mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^2$ into \mathbb{P}^8 and a typical case of a Tom unprojection (see [5, 6, 27]). In particular, \mathfrak{a} is equal to the ideal generated by the 2 × 2 minors of a 3 × 3 generic matrix $A + \sqrt{-\lambda}B$. Hence, the Gulliksen and Negård complex gives its minimal free resolution:

$$0 \longrightarrow R(-6) \xrightarrow{a_4} R^9(-4) \xrightarrow{a_3} R^{16}(-3) \xrightarrow{a_2} R^9(-2) \xrightarrow{a_1} \mathfrak{a} \longrightarrow 0.$$

In order to perform the construction of Theorem 2.3.1, we choose the first three listed generators of \mathfrak{a} to define a complete intersection

$$\mathfrak{b} = (b^2 - ad + \lambda x^2, bc - ae + \lambda xy, c^2 - af + \lambda y^2)$$

inside \mathfrak{a} . Then we link as follows:

$$\mathfrak{a} \sim_{(\mathfrak{b}, cd - be + \lambda xz)} (\mathfrak{b}, cd - be + \lambda xz, ax) \sim_{(\mathfrak{b}, ax + (cd - be + \lambda xz))} I.$$

Explicitly, the resulting ideal I is

$$\begin{split} I = & (e^2 - df - cx + by + az + \lambda z^2, ce - bf + ay + \lambda yz, cd - be + ax + \lambda xz, \\ & c^2 - af + \lambda y^2, bc - ae + \lambda xy, ac + \lambda fx - \lambda ey + \lambda cz, b^2 - ad + \lambda x^2, \\ & ab + \lambda ex - \lambda dy + \lambda bz, a^2 + \lambda cx - \lambda by + \lambda az). \end{split}$$

It has the same Betti diagram as \mathfrak{a} . In fact, I is again an example of a Tom unprojection. This time the extrasymmetric matrix is

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x & y & a & b & c \\ -x & 0 & \frac{1}{\lambda}a + z & b & d & e \\ -y & -\frac{1}{\lambda}a - z & 0 & c & e & f \\ -a & -b & -c & 0 & \lambda x & \lambda y \\ -b & -d & -e & -\lambda x & 0 & a + \lambda z \\ -c & -e & -f & -\lambda y & -a - \lambda z & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

so $I = Pf_4(M)$.

Copyright[©] Sema Güntürkün, 2014.

Chapter 3 Boij-Söderberg Decompositions

3.1 Background and Preliminaries

Throughout this chapter we assume that R is a graded polynomial ring with 3 variables over a field **k** with each variable has degree one. We seek for a description of the Betti diagram $L = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ in terms of the Betti numbers of \mathfrak{a} and J.

Let R be a graded ring and M a graded R-module. We recall the definition 2.1.4 of the minimal graded free resolution of M. Graded minimal free resolution of M is

$$\mathbb{F}: F_n \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow F_i \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow F_1 \longrightarrow F_0 \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow 0$$

where $F_i = \bigoplus_{j \ge 0} R(-j)^{\beta_{i,j}}$. The numbers $\beta_{i,j}$ are the Betti numbers of M and are considered in the Betti diagram $\beta(M)$ of M whose entry in row j and column i is $\beta_{i,i+j}$.

A degree sequence $\mathbf{d} = (d_0, d_1, ..., d_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{n+1}$ means a sequence of non-negative integers of length n + 1 with $d_0 < ... < d_n$.

Definition 3.1.1. The graded free resolution of M is called a *pure resolution of* $type \mathbf{d} = (d_0, ..., d_i, ..., d_n)$ if, for all i = 0, 1, ..., n, the *i*-th syzygy module of M is generated only by elements of degree d_i .

In other words, if a module M has a pure resolution of type **d** then all Betti numbers in the Betti diagram are zero except $\beta_{i,d_i}(M)$. Then the Betti diagram of this module is called a *pure diagram of type* **d**. The formula for the pure diagram associated by **d** is based on the Herzog and Kühl equations introduced in [18],

$$\beta_{i,j} = \begin{cases} \lambda \prod_{i=0, i \neq j}^{n} \frac{1}{|d_i - d_j|} & \text{if } j = d_i \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \quad \text{where } \lambda \in \mathbb{Q}.$$

We define a partial order on the degree sequences so that $\mathbf{d}^s < \mathbf{d}^t$ if $d_i^s \leq d_i^t$ for all i = 0, 1, ..., ns. The order on the degree sequences induces an order of the pure diagrams $\pi_{\mathbf{d}^s} < \pi_{\mathbf{d}^t}$ if $\mathbf{d}^s < \mathbf{d}^t$. Thus the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of a graded *R*-module *M* gives an ordered decomposition of the Betti diagram,

$$\beta(M) = \sum_{s} a_{s} \pi_{\mathbf{d}^{s}} \text{ where } \pi_{\mathbf{d}^{s}} < \pi_{\mathbf{d}^{t}} \text{ if } s < t.$$

Example 3.1.2. Let $I = (x^2, xy, xz, y^2)$ be an ideal in $\mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$, the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of R/I is given as following

$$\beta(R/I) = (8)\pi_{\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}}} + (4)\pi_{\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}}} \text{ where}$$

$$\pi_{\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}}} = \underbrace{\begin{array}{c|cccc} 0 & 1 & 2 & 3 \\ \hline 0 & \frac{1}{24} & - & - & - \\ 1 & - & \frac{1}{4} & \frac{1}{3} & \frac{1}{8} \end{array}}_{\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}}} < \pi_{\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}}} = \underbrace{\begin{array}{c|cccc} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ \hline 0 & \frac{1}{6} & - & - \\ 1 & - & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{3} \end{array}}_{\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}}} \text{ as } \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}} = (0, 2, 3, 4) < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}} = (0, 2, 3)$$

NOTATION: Let I a monomial ideal in a polynomial ring R. We denote the set of minimal monomial generators of I with G(I) and then $G(I)_i$ refers to the subset of G(I) containing the minimal generators of degree i. The notation a(I) means the initial degree of the monomials in I and $e^+(I)$ is for the maximum degree of the monomials in G(I) throughout this chapter.

Definition 3.1.3. Let $\mathfrak{m} = x_1^{s_1} \dots x_n^{s_n}$ and $\mathfrak{n} = x_1^{t_1} \dots x_n^{t_n}$ be two monomials in $R = \mathbf{k}[x_1, \dots, x_n]$. If either deg $\mathfrak{m} > \deg \mathfrak{n}$ or deg $\mathfrak{m} = \deg \mathfrak{n}$ and $s_i - t_i > 0$ for the first nonzero index *i*, then it is said that $\mathfrak{m} >_{lex} \mathfrak{n}$ in *lexicographic order*.

Definition 3.1.4. Let R be a polynomial ring and L be a monomial ideal in R generated by the monomials $m_1, ..., m_l$. The ideal L is called a *lex-segment ideal* (lexicographic ideal, or lex ideal) in R if for each monomial $m \in R$ the existence of some $m_i \in G(L)$ with $m >_{lex} m_i$ and $\deg(m) = \deg(m_i)$ implies $m \in L$.

For simplicity, we will use ">" for the lex order "> $_{lex}$ " unless the order is different than lexicographic order.

In this section, we make some observations about the Betti diagrams of lexsegment ideals. We aim to get some relations between their Betti numbers.

Lemma 3.1.5. Let L be a lex-segment ideal in $R = \mathbf{k}[x_1, .., x_n]$. Consider the colon ideals $\mathfrak{a}_i = L : (x_i)$, for i = 1, ..., n. Then each \mathfrak{a}_i is also lex-segment ideals in R.

Proof. Let $m' \in \mathfrak{a}_i$ be a monomial, for any i = 1, ..., n. Let m be a monomial in R and deg $m = \deg m'$ and $m >_{lex} m'$. Then $x_i m' \in L$ as $\mathfrak{a}_i = L : (x_i)$, and $x_i m >_{lex} x_i m'$. This implies $x_i m \in L$ and hence $m \in L : (x_i) = \mathfrak{a}_i$.

Let u be a monomial in $R = \mathbf{k}[x_1, ..., x_n]$, we define m(u) to be the largest index *i* such that x_i divides u. Recall that a monomial ideal I is said to be *stable* if, for every monomial $u \in G(I)$ and all $i < m(u), x_i u / x_{m(u)}$ is also in G(I).

Proposition 3.1.6. (Eliahau-Kervaire formula, [11]) Let $I \subset R$ be a stable ideal. Then

- (a) $\beta_{i,i+j}(I) = \sum_{u \in G(I)_j} {\binom{m(u)-1}{i}};$
- (b) projdim $R/I = \max\{m(u) : u \in G(I)\};$
- (c) $\operatorname{reg}(I) = \max\{\deg(u) : u \in G(I)\}.$

From now on, we assume n = 3, that is, $R = \mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$.

Lemma 3.1.7. If L is lex-segment ideal in R, then there are unique monomial ideals $\mathfrak{a} \subset R$ and $J \subset \mathbf{k}[y, z]$ such that

$$L = x\mathfrak{a} + J.$$

Moreover, the ideal \mathfrak{a} is also a lex-segment ideal since $\mathfrak{a} = L : (x)$ and J is stable in R, and $G(L) = xG(\mathfrak{a}) \uplus G(J)$. **Lemma 3.1.8.** Let $0 \to F_2 \to F_1 \to J$ and $0 \to G_3 \to G_2 \to G_1 \to \mathfrak{a}$ be graded free resolutions for the ideals J and \mathfrak{a} . If $L = \mathfrak{a}(x) + J$, then there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to J(-1) \to \mathfrak{a}(-1) \oplus J \to L \to 0 \tag{3.1}$$

Moreover,

$$0 \to G_3(-1) \oplus F_2(-1) \to G_2(-1) \oplus F_2 \oplus F_1(-1) \to G_1(-1) \oplus F_1 \to L.$$

is the graded minimal free resolution of L.

Proof. The form of the lex-segment ideal L implies the short exact sequence (3.1). The mapping cone for the short exact sequence provides a free resolution for L. If $m \in G(\mathfrak{a}) \cap G(J)$ then $mx \in G(L)$ and also $m \in G(L)$ but clearly if m is a minimal generator of L then mx cannot be a minimal generator. Therefore the ideals J and \mathfrak{a} do not have common minimal generators. This tells us that there is no cancellation in the mapping cone structure. So the resulting graded free resolution for L is minimal.

First we analyze the Betti numbers of the ideals L, $\mathfrak{a} = L : (x)$ and J. We know that the lex-segment ideals L and \mathfrak{a} are stable and in addition to this, J is a lex ideal in $\mathbf{k}[y, z]$. Thus, Eliahau-Kervaire formula gives rise to the following decomposition,

$$\beta_{i,i+j}(L) = \sum_{\substack{u \in G(L)_j \text{ and } x \mid u \\ \beta_{i,i+j-1}(\mathfrak{a})}} \binom{m(u)-1}{i} + \sum_{\substack{u \in G(L)_j \text{ and } x \nmid u \\ \text{say } D_{i,i+j}}} \binom{m(u)-1}{i}$$

Let's denote the initial degree of J, a(J) := k and the Betti numbers of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ and $\beta(J)$ as

$$a_{i,i+j} := \beta_{i,i+j}(\mathfrak{a}), \qquad c_{i,i+j} := \beta_{i,i+j}(J)$$

The following remark gives some relations and identities about the Betti numbers of L, \mathfrak{a} and J that will help us to describe the entire Betti diagram of L with respect to the Betti numbers of \mathfrak{a} and J.

Remark 3.1.9. Recall that $L = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ in $R = \mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$.

(i) If a(L) = 1, then $\mathfrak{a} = 1$. If $a(L) \ge 2$, then $a(L) = a(\mathfrak{a}) + 1$ by stability of ideal L and $\mathfrak{a} = L : (x) \ne 1$.

- (ii) We know that $\beta_{i,i+j}(L) = \beta_{i,i+j-1}(\mathfrak{a}) + D_{i,i+j}$. Thus, we observe that if $j \le k - 1$, $D_{i,i+j} = 0$, if $j \ge k$, $D_{i,i+j} = \beta_{i,i+j}(J,x)$, it implies that $D_{0,j} = c_{0,j}, D_{1,j+1} = c_{0,j} + c_{1,j+1}$, and $D_{2,j+2} = c_{1,j+1}$.
- (iii) The Eliahau-Kervaire formula for \mathfrak{a} gives

$$a_{0,j} = \begin{cases} a_{1,j+1} - a_{2,j+2} + 1 & \text{if } j = a(L) - 1\\ a_{1,j+1} - a_{2,j+2} & \text{if } j > a(L) - 1 \end{cases}$$

and $a_{1,j+1} \ge 2a_{2,j+2}$ for all $j = 1, 2, ..., e^+(\mathfrak{a})$.

- (iv) We have the following identities for the Betti numbers of the J
 - $c_{0,k} = c_{1,k+1} + 1$,
 - $c_{0,j} = c_{1,j+1}$ for all $j \ge k+1$,
 - if $c_{0,k} = k + 1$ then $c_{1,k+1} = k$ and $c_{i,i+j} = 0$ for all i = 0, 1 and $j \ge k + 1$.

Remark 3.1.10. $\min\{s | a_{1,s+1} \neq 0\} \le \min\{s | a_{2,s+2} \neq 0\}.$

Proof. It follows from the fact that \mathfrak{a} is stable.

Lemma 3.1.11. If $a_{0,j-1} = 0$ then $\beta_{0,j}(L) = 0$.

Proof. Let $a_{0,j-1} = 0$. Suppose that $c_{0,j} \neq 0$ so $c_{1,j+1} = c_{0,j} - 1 \geq 0$ and by Remark 2 $\beta_{0,j}(L) \neq 0$. Since $a_{0,j-1} = 0$ and $c_{0,j} \neq 0$, no minimal generator of degree j is divisible by x. Thus any minimal generator of degree j is of the form $y^m z^n$ where $m \geq 0, n \geq 0$ and m + n = j.

On the other hand, as $e^+(\mathfrak{a}) > j-1$ there is a minimal generator $v \in G(L)_{e^+(\mathfrak{a})+1}$ such that x|v.

Let $v = x^s y^t z^p$ where $s \ge 1$ and $s + t + p = e^+(\mathfrak{a}) + 1 > j$.

Now we can find a monomial such that $x^s y^r z^{j-s-r} \in L$ where $0 \leq r \leq t$ since L is a lex-segment ideal and so $x^s y^r z^{j-s-r} | v$. Hence v cannot be a minimal generator, that is, $a_{0,e^+(\mathfrak{a})} = 0$. This contradicts our assumption. Thus, $c_{0,j} = 0$, then $\beta_{0,j+1} = 0$. \Box

Lemma 3.1.12. $\min\{s|a_{2,s+1} \neq 0\} < \min\{s|c_{1,s+1} \neq 0\}$

Proof. Say $N := \min\{s | a_{2,s+1} \neq 0\}$ and $M := \min\{s | c_{1,s+1} \neq 0\}$. First, recall that $a(L) \geq 2$. Also, recall that k = a(J). Then the Betti diagram for J is

$\beta(J)$	0	1
k	$c_{0,k}$	-
k+1	-	-
÷	÷	÷
M-1	-	-
M	$c_{0,M}$	$c_{1,M+1} \neq 0$
M+1	$c_{0,M+1}$	$c_{1,M+2}$
÷		÷

It shows that there exists at least one minimal generator of the form $y^m z^n \in L$ where m + n = M and $n \ge 1$.

As $xz^{m+n-1} > y^m z^n$, $xz^{m+n-1} \in L$.

If xz^{m+n-1} is a minimal generator in L, then $a_{2,M+1} = \sum_{u \in G(\mathfrak{a})_{M-1}} \binom{m(u)-1}{2} \ge \binom{3-1}{2} \neq 0$. Therefore, $\min\{s | a_{2,s+1} \neq 0\} \le M - 1 < M = \min\{s | c_{1,s+1} \neq 0\}.$

If xz^{m+n-1} is not a minimal generator, then L contains a minimal generator that divides xz^{m+n-1} and since $x \notin L$.

There is a minimal generator of the form xz^t where t < m + n - 1 = M - 1. Then it follows that $_{2,t} \neq 0$ and so $\min\{s|a_{2,s+1} \neq 0\} \le t < M = \min\{s|c_{1,s+1} \neq 0\}$.

Lemma 3.1.13. If
$$a_{1,j} = 0$$
 then $\beta_{1,j+1}(L) = 0$

Proof. First of all, if $a_{1,j} = 0$ then $a_{2,j+1} = 0$. If $a_{0,j-1} = 0$ then by Lemma (3.1.11) $\beta_{0,j}(L) = 0$, so $\beta_{1,j+1}(L) = 0$. If $a_{0,j-1} \neq 0$ it is easy to see that the only minimal generator of \mathfrak{a} of degree j-1 is x^{j-1} since $a_{1,j} = a_{2,j+1} = 0$. Then, a(L) = j. If $c_{0,j} = 0$ then $c_{1,j+1} = 0$ and therefore $\beta_{1,j+1}(L) = a_{1,j} + c_{0,j} + c_{1,j+1} = 0$. Suppose $c_{0,j} \neq 0$, and as a(L) = j, $y^j \in G(L)_j$ but also $x^j \in G(L)_j$. Then by lex-order $xy^{j-1} \in G(L)_j$. This contradicts $a_{1,j} = 0$. \Box

Lemma 3.1.14. $a(J) \ge e^+(\mathfrak{a}) + 1$ where $J \ne 0$.

Proof. Say $e^+(\mathfrak{a}) = t$.

Suppose k = a(J) < t, then $y^k \in G(L)_k$. So, by lex-order, all monomials u of degree k divisible by x are in L. Thus, u is in the form $x^i y^j z^s$ where $s \ge 1$, i + j + s = k. As $e^+(\mathfrak{a}) = t > k$, there is a minimal generator $v \in L$ of degree t + 1 such that x|v. Therefore, v can be written as a product of two monomials w_1 and w_2 such that w_2 is divisible by x and the degree of w_1 is k, and w_2 has degree t - k. Since all degree k monomials divisible by x are in L, v cannot be a minimal generator. Thus $k \ge t$.

Now, we need to show that the equality is not possible. Suppose k = t.

So y^k is a minimal generator in L and since t = k we can find at least one minimal generator u of \mathfrak{a} with degree k then xu becomes a minimal generator in L of degree k + 1. However all monomials v of degree k divisible by x are in L. Then there is a monomial w such that v = xw and w|u, but this contradicts that u is a minimal generator of \mathfrak{a} .

Hence
$$k \neq t$$
. i.e. $k \geq t+1$

Lemma 3.1.14 tells us if the Betti diagrams of the ideals \mathfrak{a} and J overlap then they do only at the k^{th} row of the $\beta(L)$. So if we have the following diagrams for \mathfrak{a} and J;

respectively.

Then, the Betti diagram for L appears as following

$eta(\mathfrak{a})$	0	1	2		$\beta(I)$	0	1
1	$a_{0,1}$	$a_{1,2}$	$a_{2,3}$		$\frac{p(s)}{k}$	Col	$\frac{1}{c_{0,1}-1}$
2	$a_{0,2}$	$a_{1,2}$	$a_{2,4}$	and	k+1	$C_{0,k}$	$C_{0,k}$ I
÷	:	÷	÷	anu		$0,\kappa+1$	$0, \kappa+1$,
k-1	$a_{0,k-1}$	$a_{1,k}$	$a_{2,k+1}$:		:
k	$a_{0,k}$	$a_{1,k+1}$	$a_{2,k+2}$		$e^{-}(J)$	$C_{0,e^+(L)}$	$c_{0,e^+(L)}$

Table 3.1: Betti diagrams of \mathfrak{a} and J.

eta(L)	0	1	2
2	$a_{0,1}$	$a_{1,2}$	$a_{2,3}$
3	$a_{0,2}$	$a_{1,2}$	$a_{2,4}$
:	:	÷	÷
k-1	$a_{0,k-2}$	$a_{1,k-1}$	$a_{2,k}$
k	$a_{0,k-1} + c_{0,k}$	$a_{1,k} + 2c_{0,k} - 1$	$a_{2,k+1} + c_{0,k} - 1$
k+1	$c_{0,k+1}$	$2c_{0,k+1}$	$c_{0,k+1}$
÷	÷	÷	÷
$e^+(L) = e^+(J)$	$C_{0,e^{+}(L)}$	$2c_{0,e^+(L)}$	$C_{0,e^{+}(L)}$

Table 3.2: Betti diagram of L

3.2 Boij-Söderberg Decomposition of Lex-Segment Ideals

The Boij-Söderberg Decompositions of L and L:(x)

In this section we identify the beginning of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of a lex-segment ideal. More precisely, the next theorem shows that if $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}} < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}} < ... < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{i}} < ... < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{i}}$ is the chain of all length 3 top degree sequences in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of the Betti diagram of $\mathbf{a} = L : (x)$ and the chain of the first t + 1 top degree sequences of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of the Betti diagram of L is $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}} < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}} < ... < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{i}} < ... < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{t}}$ then $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{i}} = \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{i}} + \mathbf{1} = (d_0^i + 1, d_1^i + 1, d_2^i + 1)$ for all i = 0, 1, ..., t with exactly the same coefficients, except possibly the coefficient of $\pi_{\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{t}}}$.

Theorem 3.2.1. [15] Let $R = \mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$ and L be a lex-segment ideal of codimension 3 in R. Suppose $1 \neq \mathfrak{a} = L : (x)$.

Write the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of \mathfrak{a} as

$$\beta(\mathbf{a}) = \sum_{i=0}^{t} \alpha_i \pi_{\mathbf{d}^i} + R_{\mathbf{a}},$$

where $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}} < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}} < ... < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{l}} < ... < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{t}}$ are all top degree sequences of length 3, that is, $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{i}} = (d_0^i, d_1^i, d_2^i)$ for i = 0, 1, ..., t, and $R_{\mathfrak{a}}$ is the linear combination of the pure

diagrams greater that π_{d^t} . Then the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L has the form

$$\beta(L) = \sum_{i=0}^{t} \tilde{\alpha}_i \pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^i} + R_L$$

where $\bar{\mathbf{d}}^{\mathbf{i}} = \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{i}} + \mathbf{1} = (d_0^i + 1, d_1^i + 1, d_2^i + 1)$, and $\tilde{\alpha}_i = \alpha_i$ for i = 0, 1, ..., t and $\tilde{\alpha}_t \ge \alpha_t$, and R_L is a linear combination of pure diagrams greater than $\pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^{\mathbf{t}}}$.

Proof. Recall that, for a given top degree sequence $\mathbf{d} = (d_0, d_1, d_2)$, the "normalized" pure diagram $\pi_{\mathbf{d}}$ can be obtained as following

$$\beta_{i,i+j}(\pi_{\mathbf{d}}) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } i+j \neq d_i \\ \prod_{r=0,r\neq i}^2 \frac{\lambda}{|d_i - d_r|} & \text{if } i+j = d_i, \text{ where } \lambda = \operatorname{lcm}\left(\prod_{r=0,r\neq i}^2 |d_i - d_r|, i = 0, 1, 2\right). \end{cases}$$

Thus, this formula provides pure diagrams with integer entries. From now on, we always consider "normalized" pure diagrams, that is, pure diagrams with integer entries.

Let $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}} = (d_0^0, d_1^0, d_2^0)$ be the top degree sequence for the Betti diagram of \mathfrak{a} . if $d_2^0 < k + 1$, that is, $d_0^0 < d_1^0 < d_2^0 < k + 1$, so $d_0^0 < k - 1$. Then we see that $\beta_{i,i+j}(\mathfrak{a}) = \beta_{i,i+j+1}(L)$ for all j = 0, 1, ..., k - 2 since the Betti diagrams of \mathfrak{a} and J may only overlap on the k-th row in the Betti diagram of L. As $L = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ and degree shift due to multiplication by x the top degree sequence of $\beta(L)$ will be $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}} + 1$. Thus $\beta(L) - \alpha_0 \pi_{d^0+1}$ becomes the first step of the Boij-Söderberg-decomposition of $\beta(L)$. Actually we generalize this for all degree sequence $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{s}}$ such that $d_2^{\mathbf{s}} < k + 1$.

Suppose $d_2^s < k + 1$ for all s = 0, 1, ..., l - 1, then we have a chain $d_2^0 < d_2^1 < ... < d_2^{l-1} < k + 1$. Therefore, after l steps of the algorithm, we would get the remaining diagram

$$\beta(\mathfrak{a}) - \sum_{s=0}^{l-1} \alpha_s \pi_{\mathbf{d}^s} =: \tilde{\beta}(\mathfrak{a}) \text{ and } \beta(L) - \sum_{s=0}^{l-1} \alpha_s \pi_{\mathbf{d}^s+1} =: \tilde{\beta}(L).$$

Let $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{l}} = (d_0^l, d_1^l, d_2^l)$ be the next top degree sequence of the Betti diagram for \mathfrak{a} and $d_2^l = k + 1$ so above paragraph shows that $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{l}} + \mathbf{1}$ becomes the next top degree sequence of Betti diagram for L. Therefore the remaining diagrams after the first l steps of the Boij-Söderberg decompositions for both \mathfrak{a} and L look like as following,

and similarly,

By construction of $\beta(L)$, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\beta}_{0,d_0^l+1}(L) &= \tilde{\beta}_{0,d_0^l}(\mathfrak{a}) \text{ and } \tilde{\beta}_{1,d_1^l+1}(L) = \tilde{\beta}_{1,d_1^l}(\mathfrak{a}) \text{ as } d_0^l + 1 < k \text{ and } d_1^l < k \\ \tilde{\beta}_{2,d_2^l+1}(L) &= a_{2,d_2^l} + c_{1,d_2^l} \text{ as } d_2^l - 1 = k. \end{split}$$

The decomposition algorithm exposes the coefficient of the pure diagram π_{d^1} to be

$$\alpha_{l} = \min\{\frac{\tilde{\beta}_{0,d_{0}^{l}}(\mathfrak{a})}{\beta_{0,d_{0}^{l}}(\pi_{\mathbf{d}^{1}})}, \frac{\tilde{\beta}_{1,d_{1}^{l}}(\mathfrak{a})}{\beta_{1,d_{1}^{l}}(\pi_{\mathbf{d}^{1}})}, \frac{a_{2,d_{2}^{l}}}{\beta_{2,d_{2}^{l}}(\pi_{\mathbf{d}^{1}})}\}$$
(3.2)

$$\beta(\mathfrak{a}) - \sum_{s=0}^{l-1} \alpha_s \pi_{\mathbf{d}^s} = \begin{array}{c|cccc} & \tilde{\beta}(\mathfrak{a}) & 0 & 1 & 2 \\ \hline d_0^l & \tilde{\beta}_{0,d_0^l}(\mathfrak{a}) & - & - \\ & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ d_1^l - 1 & a_{0,d_1^l-1} & \tilde{\beta}_{1,d_1^l}(\mathfrak{a}) & - \\ & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ d_2^l - 2 = k - 1 & a_{0,d_2^l-2} & a_{1,d_2^l-1} & a_{2,d_2^l} \end{array}$$

Table 3.3: Remaining diagram after l steps for $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$



Table 3.4: Remaining diagram after l step for $\beta(L)$

and similarly for the Boij-Söderberg-decomposition of $\beta(L)$ there is a rational number $\tilde{\alpha}_l$ as the coefficient of the pure diagram $\pi_{\mathbf{d}^l+\mathbf{1}}$ such that

$$\tilde{\alpha}_{l} = \min\{\frac{\tilde{\beta}_{0,d_{0}^{l}}(\mathfrak{a})}{\beta_{0,d_{0}^{l}}(\pi_{\mathbf{d}^{1}})}, \frac{\tilde{\beta}_{1,d_{1}^{l}}(\mathfrak{a})}{\beta_{1,d_{1}^{l}}(\pi_{\mathbf{d}^{1}})}, \frac{a_{2,d_{2}^{l}}+c_{1,d_{2}^{l}}}{\beta_{2,d_{2}^{l}}(\pi_{\mathbf{d}^{1}})}\}$$
(3.3)

Hence we just need to look at the k-th row of the Betti diagram of L if $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ and $\beta(L)$ overlap. Thus, we only need to think about the top degree sequences d^s of length 3 of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ such that $d_2^s = k + 1$.

CASE *I*: Let $a_{2,k+1}$ be eliminated in the (l+1)-th step of the decomposition algorithm of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$. In other words, $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{l}} = (d_0^l, d_1^l, d_2^l)$ is of length 3, but $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{l}+1} = (d_0^{l+1}, d_1^{l+1})$ has length 2. It shows that $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}} < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}} < \ldots < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{i}} < \ldots < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{l}}$ are all length 3 degree sequences in the decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$. Hence, Boij-Söderberg-decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ is as

$$\beta(\mathfrak{a}) = \sum_{s=0}^{i} \alpha_s \pi_{\mathbf{d}^s} + [\text{all pure diagrams of length less than 3}].$$

So we do not need to pay attention to the (l + 2)-th step in the decomposition. Besides the diagram 3.4 already shows that $d^{l} + 1$ is top degree sequence of the remaining diagram of L, $\tilde{\beta}(L)$. Therefore the first (l+1)-th top degree sequences of Boij-Söderberg decomposition of $\beta(L)$ is

$$d^0 + 1 < d^1 + 1 < ... < d^l + 1$$

where the coefficients $\tilde{\alpha}_i = \alpha_i$ for i = 0, 1, ..., l - 1.

CASE II: Suppose that $a_{2,k+1}$ is not eliminated in the (l + 1)-th step of the decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$. Moreover we assume that it will vanish in the (t + 1)-th step for some t > l. That is, the chain of the degree sequences in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ is

$$d^0 < d^1 < ... < d^l < ... < d^t < ... < d^n$$

where,

- for s = 0, 1, ..., l 1, $\mathbf{d^s} = (d_0^s, d_1^s, d_2^s)$ has length 3 such that $d_2^s < k + 1$,
- for s = l, ..., t, $\mathbf{d^s} = (d_0^s, d_1^s, d_2^s)$ has length 3 such that $d_2^s = k + 1$ and
- for s = t + 1, ..., n, $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{s}} = (d_0^s, d_1^s)$ has length 2.

As the entries only above the (k-1)-th row are eliminated until the (t+1)-th step of the decomposition, it is not difficult to guess the remaining diagram of L.

In the previous section we have seen that the entries above the k-th in $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ are the same entries in $\beta(L)$. Let the remaining diagram of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ after subtracting the first t pure diagrams be

$$\beta(\mathfrak{a}) - \sum_{s=0}^{t-1} \alpha_s \pi_{\mathbf{d}^s} = \frac{\begin{array}{c|cccc} & \tilde{\beta}(\mathfrak{a}) & 0 & 1 & 2 \\ \hline d_0^t & \beta_{0,d_0^t}(\mathfrak{a}) & - & - \\ & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ d_1^t - 1 & a_{0,d_1^t-1} & \tilde{\beta}_{1,d_1^t}(\mathfrak{a}) & - \\ & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ d_2^t - 2 = k - 1 & a_{0,d_2^t-2} & a_{1,d_2^t-1} & \tilde{\beta}_{2,d_2^t}(\mathfrak{a}) \end{array}$$

where $\tilde{\beta}_{i,d_i^t}(\mathfrak{a}) = \beta_{i,d_i^t}(\mathfrak{a}) - \sum_{s=0}^{t-1} \alpha_s \beta_{i,d_i^t}(\pi_{\mathbf{ds}})$, for i = 0, 1, 2.

Furthermore, as in (3.2) and (3.3), we can observe similar relations between the coefficients in both Boij-Söderberg decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ and $\beta(L)$ during their first t steps. The coefficients of the pure diagrams $\pi_{\mathbf{d}^s}$ in the decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ for s = l, ..., t - 1 is

$$\alpha_s = \min\{\frac{\hat{\beta}_{i,d_i^s}(\mathfrak{a})}{\beta_{i,d_i^s}(\pi_{\mathbf{d}^s})}, \text{ for } i = 0, 1, 2\}.$$

Similarly, the corresponding coefficient $\tilde{\alpha}_s$ of the pure diagram $\pi_{\mathbf{d}^s+\mathbf{1}}$ in the decomposition of $\beta(L)$ becomes

$$\tilde{\alpha_s} = \min\{\frac{\beta_{i,d_i^s+1}(L)}{\beta_{i,d_i^s+1}(\pi_{\mathbf{d^s}+1})}, \text{ for } i = 0, 1, 2\} \\ = \min\{\frac{\tilde{\beta}_{0,d_0^s}(\mathfrak{a})}{\beta_{0,d_0^s}(\pi_{\mathbf{d^s}})}, \frac{\tilde{\beta}_{1,d_1^s}(\mathfrak{a})}{\beta_{1,d_1^s}(\pi_{\mathbf{d^s}})}, \frac{\tilde{\beta}_{2,d_2^s}(\mathfrak{a}) + c_{1,d_2^s}}{\beta_{2,d_2^s}(\pi_{\mathbf{d^s}})}\}$$

We assume that any of the entries corresponding to d_i^s for i = 0, 1 would be eliminated where s = l, ..., t - 1. Thus

$$\alpha_s < \frac{\beta_{2,d_2^s}(\mathfrak{a})}{\beta_{2,k+1}(\pi_{d^s})}, \quad \text{where} \quad d_2^s = k+1.$$

So it follows that

$$\frac{\tilde{\beta}_{2,d_2^s}(\mathfrak{a})}{\beta_{2,k+1}(\pi_{\mathbf{d}^s})} < \frac{\tilde{\beta}_{2,d_2^s}(\mathfrak{a}) + c_{1,k+1}}{\beta_{2,k+1}(\pi_{\mathbf{d}^s})}.$$

Hence $\tilde{\alpha}_s = \alpha_s$ for s = l, ..., t - 1. However, this situation may change for the coefficients α_t and $\tilde{\alpha}_t$ since $\tilde{\beta}_{2,d_2^t}(\mathfrak{a})$ will be eliminated in the next step. So $\alpha_t \leq \tilde{\alpha}_t$. Hence the remaining diagram of $\beta(L)$ is

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\beta}(L) &:= \beta(L) - \sum_{s=0}^{t-1} \alpha_s \pi_{\mathbf{d}^s + \mathbf{1}} \\ & = \begin{array}{c|c} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ \hline d_0^t + 1 & \tilde{\beta}_{0, d_0^t + 1}(L) & - & - \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ d_1^t & a_{0, d_1^t - 1} & \tilde{\beta}_{1, d_1^t + 1}(L) & - \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ d_2^t - 1 = k & a_{0, d_2^t - 2} + c_{0, d_2^t - 1} & a_{1, d_2^t - 1} + c_{0, d_2^t - 1} + c_{1, d_2^t} & \tilde{\beta}_{2, d_2^t}(L) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ d_1^t + 1 & c_{0, k+1} & c_{0, k+1} + c_{1, k+2} & c_{1, k+2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \end{split}$$

where

$$\tilde{\beta}_{0,d_0^t+1}(L) = \tilde{\beta}_{0,d_0^t}(\mathfrak{a}) \text{ and } \tilde{\beta}_{1,d_1^t+1}(L) = \tilde{\beta}_{1,d_1^t}(\mathfrak{a}) \text{ as } d_0^t + 1 < k \text{ and } d_1^t < k$$
$$\beta_{2,d_2^t+1}(L) = \tilde{\beta}_{2,d_2^t}(\mathfrak{a}) + c_{1,d_2^t} \text{ as } d_2^t - 1 = k.$$

This will bring us back to Case I, $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{t}} = (d_0^t, d_1^t, d_2^t)$ is the last top degree sequence of length 3 in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition fo $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$. Above remaining diagram clearly shows us that $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{t}} + \mathbf{1} = (d_0^t + 1, d_1^t + 1, d_2^t + 1)$ is a degree sequence in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition fo $\beta(L)$.

As a summary, if $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}} < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}} < ... < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{t}}$ is the chain of the all top degree sequences of length 3 in the Boij-Söderberg-decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ with coefficients α_s for s = 0, 1, ..., t. Then $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}} + \mathbf{1} < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}} + \mathbf{1} < ... < \mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{t}} + \mathbf{1}$ becomes the initial t top degree sequences of length 3 in the Boij-Söderberg-decomposition of $\beta(L)$ with $\tilde{\alpha}_s = \alpha_s$ if s < t and $\tilde{\alpha}_t \geq \alpha_t$.

Remark 3.2.2. We believe that this result can be generalized to the lex-ideals in $\mathbf{k}[x_1, ..., x_n]$.

Let $L = (x_1)\mathfrak{a} + J$ in $R = \mathbf{k}[x_1, x_2, ..., x_n]$ be a lex-segment ideal, then \mathfrak{a} is also lexsegment ideal in R and J turns out to be a stable ideal of codim n - 1 in $\mathbf{k}[x_2, ..., x_n]$. Suppose

$$F_{n-1} \to \cdots \to F_i \to \cdots \to F_1 \to J \to 0$$
$$G_n \to \cdots \to G_i \to \cdots \to G_1 \to \mathfrak{a} \to 0$$

are the minimal free resolutions of J and \mathfrak{a} , respectively. We get the same short exact sequence (3.1) like in Lemma 3.1.8, then by mapping cone we have the following minimal free resolution for L

$$0 \to G_n(-1) \oplus F_{n-1}(-1) \to \dots \to G_2(-1) \oplus F_2 \oplus F_1(-1) \to G_1(-1) \oplus F_1 \to L.$$

So it yields

$$\beta_{i,i+j}(L) = \begin{cases} \beta_{i,i+j-1}(\mathfrak{a}) & \text{if } i+j < a(J), \\ \beta_{i,i+j-1}(\mathfrak{a}) + \sum_{t=i-1}^{i} \beta_{t,j+t}(J) & \text{if } i+j \ge a(J), \end{cases}$$

where i = 0, 1, ..., n - 1.

By using lex-order properties of L and a, as we did in case n = 3, we conclude that the Betti diagrams of \mathfrak{a} and J either overlap only on the a(J)-th row of the Betti diagram of L or do not overlap at all. Identify k := a(J). Therefore, the Betti diagram of L in $\mathbf{k}[x_1, ..., x_n]$ is

eta(L)	0	1	 n-1
2	$a_{0,1}$	$a_{1,2}$	 $a_{n-1,n}$
3	$a_{0,2}$	$a_{1,3}$	 $a_{n-1,n+1}$
÷	:	÷	 ÷
k-1	$a_{0,k-2}$	$a_{1,k-1}$	 $a_{n-1,k+n-3}$
k	$a_{0,k-1} + c_{0,k}$	$a_{1,k} + c_{0,k} + c_{1,k+1}$	 $a_{n-1,k+n-2} + c_{n-1,k+n-1}$
k+1	$c_{0,k+1}$	$c_{0,k+1} + c_{1,k+2}$	 $c_{n-1,k+n-1}$
÷	•	÷	 ÷
$e^+(L) = e^+(J)$	$c_{0,e^{+}(L)}$	$c_{0,e^+(L)} + c_{1,e^+(L)+1}$	 $C_{n-1,e^+(L)+n-1}$

Table 3.5: Betti diagram of L in $\mathbf{k}[x_1, ..., x_n]$

We believe that the proof of Theorem 3.2.1 can be modified for the polynomial ring of *n* variables. Hence one could conclude that if $\pi_{\mathbf{d}^0} < \pi_{\mathbf{d}^1} < ... < \pi_{\mathbf{d}^t}$ are all pure diagrams of length *n* in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of \mathfrak{a} , where $\mathbf{d}^i = (d_0^i, d_1^i, ..., d_{n-1}^i)$ for i = 0, 1, ..., t. Then the chain of pure diagrams

$$\pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^0} < \pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^1} < ... < \pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^t}$$

appears in the beginning of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L such that $\mathbf{\bar{d}^i} = \mathbf{d^i} + \mathbf{1} = (d_0^i + 1, d_1^i + 1, ..., d_{n-1}^i + 1).$

The Boij-Söderberg Decomposition for (L, x)

Previously we depicted the beginning of the chain of the degree sequences in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of $\beta(L) = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ in terms of the decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$. Now we aim to give a description of the end of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L in $R = \mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$.

We conjecture that all degree sequences of length less than 3 in the decomposition of $\beta(L, x) = \beta(J, x)$ occur precisely as all degree sequences of length less that 3 in the decomposition for L.

We give the proof of this statement for all Artinian lex-segment ideals $L = \mathfrak{a}(x)+J$ except the ones of the form $L = x(x, y, z^t) + J$ where J is different that $(y, z)^{a(J)}$ and 1 < t < k-1. Actually we believe that the statement is also true of this particular case of L, however proof of this particular case requires a case analyzing which becomes infeasible.

Theorem 3.2.3. [15] Let $L \subset R = \mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$ be an Artinian lex-segment ideal of codimension 3. Suppose that L is not decomposed as $L = x(x, y, z^t) + J$ where J is different that $(y, z)^{a(J)}$ and 1 < t < k - 1.

Let $\mathfrak{a} = L$: (x) be a lex-segment ideal of R. Then $L = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ where $J \in \mathbf{k}[y, z]$ is a stable ideal of codim 2. The ideal (J, x) = (L, x) is also a codim 3 Artinian, lex-segment ideal in R.

$$\beta(L, x) = R_{(L, x)} + \sum_{i=t+1}^{n} \alpha_i \pi_{\mathbf{d}^i}$$

where $\mathbf{d}^{t+1} < \mathbf{d}^{t+2} < ... < \mathbf{d}^n$ are all top degree sequences of length less than 3, with the coefficients α_i , i = t + 1, ..., n. $R_{(L,x)}$ is the linear combination of the pure diagrams associated with the degree sequences of length 3.

Then the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L is

$$\beta(L) = R_L + \sum_{i=t+1}^n \alpha_i \pi_{\mathbf{d}^i}$$

the chain $\mathbf{d^{t+1}} < \mathbf{d^{t+2}} < ... < \mathbf{d^n}$ of degree sequences of length 2 and 1 exactly with the same coefficients α_i and R_L is the linear combination of the pure diagrams associated with the degree sequences of length 3.

Proof. First let's observe the decomposition of the Betti diagram of (L, x). Say $e^+(L, x) = e^+(L) = n$. Suppose k = a(J) > 2 and $n \ge k + 1$. So the diagram has the following form;

$\beta(L, x)$	0	1	2
1	1	—	—
2	—	_	—
:	÷	÷	÷
k-1	—	_	—
k	$c_{0,k}$	$2c_{0,k} - 1$	$c_{0,k} - 1$
k+1	$c_{0,k+1}$	$2c_{0,k+1}$	$c_{0,k+1}$
:	÷	:	÷
n	$c_{0,n}$	$2c_{0,n}$	$c_{0,n}$

We aim to show that before the entry $\beta_{2,k+3}(L,x) = c_{0,k} - 1$ gets eliminated, $\beta_{0,1}(L, x) = 1$ is eliminated.

 $\begin{array}{c|c} & 0 & 1 & 2 \\ \hline 1 & 1 & - & - \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ k & - & \mathbf{k} + \mathbf{1} & \mathbf{k} \end{array} \text{ and } \gamma_0 = \min\{1, \frac{2c_{0,k}-1}{k+1}, \frac{c_{0,k}-1}{k}\} = \frac{c_{0,k}-1}{k}. \text{ The next degree sequence } \\ \end{array}$ First degree sequence is $\mathbf{\bar{d}^0} = (1, k+1, k+2)$, then we have $\beta(L, x) - \gamma_0 \pi_{\mathbf{\bar{d}^0}}$ where $\pi_{\mathbf{\bar{d}^0}} =$

becomes $\overline{\mathbf{d}}^{\mathbf{1}} = (1, k+1, k+3)$ and then the pure diagram is $\pi_{\overline{\mathbf{d}}^{\mathbf{1}}} = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ 1 & 2 & - & - \end{vmatrix}}{k}$. Then the coefficient can be obtained as $\gamma_1 = \min\{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{c_{0,k}-1}{2k}, \frac{c_{0,k}(k+1)-1}{k+2}, \frac{c_{0,k+1}}{k}\} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{c_{0,k}-1}{2k}$. Hence we have eliminated the entry ℓ (I) with output I. $\frac{1}{2} - \frac{c_{0,k}-1}{2k}$. Hence we have eliminated the entry $\beta_{0,1}(L,x)$, then the remaining diagram $\beta(L,x) - \gamma_0 \pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^0} - \gamma_1 \pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^1}$ is

	0	1	2
k	$c_{0,k}$	$\boxed{(k+2)\frac{c_{0,k}-1}{k}-k(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{c_{0,k}-1}{2k})}$	_
k+1	$c_{0,k+1}$	$2c_{0,k+1}$	$\boxed{c_{0,k+1}-k(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{c_{0,k}-1}{2k})}$
÷		:	:
n	$c_{0,n}$	$2c_{0,n}$	$c_{0,n}$

Next, $\bar{\mathbf{d}}^2 = (k, k+1, k+3)$ and $\pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^2} = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ k & 2 & 3 & - \\ k+1 & | & - & - & 1 \end{vmatrix}$. The corresponding coefficient is $\gamma_2 = \min\{\frac{3(c_{0,k-1})-k}{6}, c_{0,k+1} - \frac{k+1-c_{0,k}}{2}\}$. This brings us to two separate cases;

(i) If $c_{0,k+1} < \frac{k}{3}$, then $\gamma_2 = c_{0,k+1} - \frac{k+1-c_{0,k}}{2}$. Then,

$$\beta(L,x) - \sum_{i=0}^{2} \gamma_{i} \pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^{i}} = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ k & k+1 - 2c_{0,k} & k - 3c_{0,k+1} & - \\ k+1 & c_{0,k+1} & 2c_{0,k+1} & - \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ n & c_{0,n} & 2c_{0,n} & c_{0,n} \end{vmatrix}$$
(3.4)

(ii) If $\frac{k}{3} < c_{0,k+1}$, then $\gamma_2 = \frac{3(c_{0,k-1}) - k}{6}$. So, we obtain

$$\beta(L,x) - \sum_{i=0}^{2} \gamma_{i} \pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^{i}} = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ k & \frac{k}{3} + 1 & - & - \\ k + 1 & c_{0,k+1} & 2c_{0,k+1} & c_{0,k+1} - \frac{k}{3} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ n & c_{0,n} & 2c_{0,n} & c_{0,n} \end{vmatrix}$$
(3.5)

Now we examine the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of the lex ideal L. First of all, as a trivial case, we must notice that if a(L) = 1, then the statement is vacuously true since L = (L, x).

We induct on the difference of the initial degrees $a(J) - a(\mathfrak{a}) \ge 1$.

Base Step: In this step, we show that the statement is true for the lex ideals $L = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ when $a(J) - a(\mathfrak{a}) = 1$. That is, if $a(J) = k \ge 2$ then $a(\mathfrak{a}) = k - 1$. So $\mathfrak{a} = (x, y, z)^{k-1}$ since L is a lex ideal, .

Thus we modify the Betti diagram of L in the Table (3.1) to this case,

Then obviously $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{0}} = (k, k+1, k+2)$ and $\alpha_0 = \frac{k(k-1)}{2} + c_{0,k} - 1$. Then $\mathbf{d}^{\mathbf{1}} = (k, k+1, k+3)$ becomes the next degree sequence with the coefficient $\alpha_1 = \min\{\frac{k}{3}, c_{0,k+1}\}$.

(i) If $\alpha_1 = c_{0,k+1} < \frac{k}{3}$, then

$$\beta(L) - \sum_{i=0}^{1} \alpha_{i} \pi_{\mathbf{d}^{i}} = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ k & k+1 - 2c_{0,k+1} & k-3c_{0,k+1} & - \\ k+1 & c_{0,k+1} & 2c_{0,k+1} & - \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ n & c_{0,n} & 2c_{0,n} & c_{0,n} \end{vmatrix}$$

by 3.4 = $\beta(L, x) - \sum_{i=0}^{2} \gamma_{i} \pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^{i}}$

(ii) If $\alpha_1 = \frac{k}{3} < c_{0,k+1}$ then the remaining diagram of $\beta(L)$ after three steps

becomes

$$\beta(L) - \sum_{i=0}^{2} \alpha_{i} \pi_{\mathbf{d}^{i}} = \begin{array}{c|cccc} & 0 & 1 & 2 \\ \hline k & \frac{k}{3} + 1 & - & - \\ c_{0,k+1} & 2c_{0,k+1} & c_{0,k+1} - \frac{k}{3} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ n & c_{0,n} & 2c_{0,n} & c_{0,n} \end{array}$$

by 3.5 = $\beta(L, x) - \sum_{i=0}^{2} \gamma_{i} \pi_{\bar{\mathbf{d}}^{i}}$

Thus, $\beta(L)$ and $\beta(L, x)$ have exactly the same remaining diagrams in the decomposition. Hence, the statement holds for the case of $a(J) - a(\mathfrak{a}) = 1$.

Induction Hypothesis: Let the statement be true for all lex ideals $L = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ satisfying $a(J) - a(\mathfrak{a}) = N \ge 1$. We need to show that it is also true for the lex ideals satisfying $a(J) - a(\mathfrak{a}) = N + 1$. We identify the initial degrees of J and \mathfrak{a} by a(J) = k and $a(\mathfrak{a}) = m$.

Suppose that $L = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ is a lex ideal such that k - m = N + 1. So $k - m = N + 1 \ge 2$. The proof is given in two cases.

<u>CASE I</u>: If $y^m \notin \mathfrak{a}$. Since \mathfrak{a} is a lex ideal, we write $\mathfrak{a} = x\mathfrak{b} + I$. Then we notice that $a(I) \neq k$ otherwise it contradicts to $y^k \in G(J)$. Thus $k \geq a(I) \geq m$ as $y^m \notin \mathfrak{a}$.

Define $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}} \subset \mathfrak{a}$ as the ideal containing all monomials of \mathfrak{a} of degree greater or equal to m + 1. One can easily check that $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}$ is also a lex ideal with $a(\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}) = m + 1$. Define $\tilde{L} = x\tilde{\mathfrak{a}} + J$ and it is a lex ideal with $a(J) - a(\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}) = k - (m + 1) = k - m - 1 =$ N + 1 - 1 = N. Therefore by the induction hypothesis, $\beta(\tilde{L})$ and $\beta(L, x)$ have the same ends in their Boij-Söderberg decompositions, i.e. same pure diagrams of length less than 3 with same coefficients,

$\beta(\tilde{L}) - \sum$	$\tilde{\alpha_i}\pi_{\tilde{\mathbf{d}}^i} = \beta(L,x) -$	\sum	$\gamma_i \pi_{\mathbf{d}^i}.$
$ ilde{\mathbf{d}}^i,$		$\mathbf{d^{i}},$	
all length	3	all length 3	
degree seq	S. (legree seqs.	

On the other hand, $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}$ can be decomposed as $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}} = x\tilde{\mathfrak{b}} + \tilde{I}$. It is easy to see that $\tilde{I} = I$ as $y^m \notin \mathfrak{a}$ and $a(\tilde{\mathfrak{b}}) = m$. Clearly, $a(I) - a(\tilde{\mathfrak{b}}) \leq (k-1) - m = N$. Thus, again by the hypothesis Boij-Söderberg decompositions of $\beta(\tilde{\mathfrak{a}})$ and $\beta(I, x)$ have the same ends.

Recall that $\mathfrak{a} = x\mathfrak{b} + I$, so we get $a(I) - a(\mathfrak{b}) \leq (k-1) - (m-1) = k - m = N + 1$. Suppose that $a(I) - a(\mathfrak{b}) < N + 1$, then the hypothesis provide the results, that is, Boij-Söderberg decompositions of \mathfrak{a} and (I, x) have the same ends, so do \mathfrak{a} and $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}$. That is,

 $D := \beta(\mathfrak{a}) - \sum \text{all length 3 pure diagrams} = \beta(\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}) - \sum \text{all length 3 pure diagrams}.$

Also using the Theorem 3.2.1 Boij-Söderberg decompositions for the ideals L and \tilde{L}

can be observed as following;

$$\beta(L) = \sum_{\mathbf{d}^{i} \text{ with } l(\mathbf{d}^{i})=3} \alpha_{i} \pi_{\mathbf{d}^{i}} + \frac{\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ 2 & \text{Remaining} \\ \vdots & \text{diagram, } \mathbf{D} \\ k \\ \vdots & \beta_{i,i+j}(L,x), \ i \ge k \end{vmatrix}$$
$$\beta(\tilde{L}) = \sum_{\tilde{\mathbf{d}}^{i}+1 \text{ with } l(\tilde{\mathbf{d}}^{i})=3} \tilde{\alpha}_{i} \pi_{\tilde{\mathbf{d}}^{i}} + \frac{\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ 2 & \text{Remaining} \\ \vdots & \text{diagram, } \mathbf{D} \\ k \\ \vdots & \beta_{i,i+j}(L,x), \ i \ge k \end{vmatrix}$$

This shows that $\beta(L)$ and $\beta(\tilde{L})$ have same ends but we also know that $\beta(\tilde{L})$ and $\beta(L, x)$ have same ends. Hence the statement is true.

However, we must still explain the case when $a(I) - a(\mathfrak{b}) = (k-1) - (m-1) = k - m = N + 1$, which means a(I) = k - 1. It follows $I = (y, z)^{k-1}$ since a(J) = k. Then $\mathfrak{a} = x\mathfrak{b} + I$ and $\mathfrak{b} = x\overline{\mathfrak{b}} + \overline{I}$ where $a(\overline{I}) - a(\overline{\mathfrak{b}}) \ge (k-2) - (m-2) \ge N + 1$. If it is a strict inequality then same process as we have done for L can be applied to \mathfrak{a} to prove the statement. If there is an equality, we end up with the same situation. $L = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ where a(J) = k, $a(\mathfrak{a}) = m$ and k - m = N + 1, and $\mathfrak{a} = x\mathfrak{b} + I$ where $I = (y, z)^{k-1}, a(\mathfrak{b}) = m - 1$, and $\mathfrak{b} = x\overline{\mathfrak{b}} + \overline{I}$ where $\overline{I} = (y, z)^{k-2}, a(\overline{\mathfrak{b}}) = m - 2$. We repeat this until we get

$$\mathbf{c} = x(x, y, z^{t-1}) + K$$
 where $K = (y, z)^s, s = k - m + 1, 1 \le t \le k - m$.

For this form of the lex ideal, one can check the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of the ideal \mathfrak{c} .

$$\beta(\mathbf{c}) = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & - \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ t & 1 & 2 & 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ s + 1 & 2s + 1 & s \end{vmatrix}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{t} \begin{bmatrix} 2: t - 1 & t & - \\ t: & - & - & 1 \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{t} \begin{bmatrix} 2: 1 & - & - \\ t: & - & t - & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{s} \begin{bmatrix} 2: s - t + 1 & - & - \\ t: & - & s & - \\ s: & - & - & t - & 1 \end{bmatrix} + \frac{t - 1}{s} \begin{bmatrix} 2: 1 & - & - \\ t: & - & t - & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$+ 1 \begin{bmatrix} t: 1 & - & - \\ s: & - & s - & t - & 1 \end{bmatrix} + \frac{s[s: 1] + 1[s: 1]}{same end as in the decomposition of (L,z)}$$

Therefore the statement is true for the ideal \mathfrak{c} . So we may assume that, without loss of generality, \mathfrak{a} can be assumed as in the form of \mathfrak{c} , that is, $a(I) - a(\mathfrak{a}) < N + 1$. This observation completes the proof for Case I.

<u>CASE II:</u> Let $y^m \in \mathfrak{a}$.

(i) If $m \notin 1$; we write $\mathfrak{a} = x\mathfrak{b} + I$ and a(I) = m > 1. This implies that $\mathfrak{b} = (x, y, z)^{m-1}$. Consider $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}} = (\mathfrak{a}, x) = x(1) + I$. Clearly $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}} = (\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}, x)$, so the statement is trivially true for the ideal $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}$. Moreover, $a(I) - a(\mathfrak{a}) = m - (m-1) = 1$. By the base case, the decompositions of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$ and $\beta(I, x)$ have the same ends. Hence,

$$\beta(\mathfrak{a}) - \sum \text{ all length 3 pure diagrams} = \beta(I, x) - \sum \text{ all length 3 pure diagrams} = \beta(\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}) - \sum \text{ all length 3 pure diagrams}.$$

Similar to the Case I, consider the lex ideal $\tilde{L} = x\tilde{\mathfrak{a}} + J$ and $y^{a(\tilde{\mathfrak{a}})} = y \notin \tilde{\mathfrak{a}}$. Thus by the result of the Case I, the statement is true for \tilde{L} . We do exactly the same trick as in Case I to show that $\beta(L)$ and $\beta(\tilde{L})$ have the same ends and it follows that the statement holds for L.

(ii) If m = 1; that is, $\mathfrak{a} = (x, y, z^t)$ where $1 \le t \le k - 1$. In the Case I we have already shown that the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of the $\beta(L)$ satisfy the statement if $L = x(x, y, z^t) + J$ where $J = (y, z)^k$. Nevertheless, for more general stable ideal $J \subset \mathbf{k}[y, z]$ we had already assumed that L cannot be in that form in the statement.

Conjecture 3.2.4. The statement of Theorem 3.2.3 holds for all Artinian lex-ideals in $\mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$.

Theorem 3.2.3 shows that the ends of the Boij-Söderbeg decompositions of L and (L, x) = (J, x) are exactly the same for all Artinian lex ideals L in R except the ones in the form of $L = x(x, y, z^t) + J$ where J is different that $(y, z)^{a(J)}$ and 1 < t < k - 1. However, based on the observations we have done using the BoijSoederberg packages of the computer algebra software Macaulay2, we believe that this result is also true for the lex ideals in that particular form.

3.3 Further Observations and Examples

For an Artinian lex ideal $L \subset \mathbf{k}[x, y, z]$ of codimension 3, we have shown that the summands of length 3 pure diagrams of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of \mathfrak{a} where $\mathfrak{a} = L : (x)$, and the summands of pure diagrams of length less than 3 in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of (L, x) appear in the decomposition of the ideal $L = \mathfrak{a}(x) + J$ in the beginning and the end, respectively.

$$\beta(L) = \begin{bmatrix} \text{length 3 degree} \\ \text{sequences coming} \\ \text{from } \mathfrak{a} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \text{extra length 3} \\ \text{degree sequences} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \text{all length < 3 degree} \\ \text{sequences coming} \\ \text{from } (L, x) \end{bmatrix}$$

There might be also some other pure diagrams of length 3 other than the ones coming from the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of \mathfrak{a} . However, how this middle part containing pure diagrams of length 3 comes out is not quite clear. One might ask whether or not the ideals $\mathfrak{b} = L : (y)$ and $\mathfrak{c} = L : (z)$ help to describe the middle part. In fact, examples show that there is a quite strong relation between them. Nevertheless, there are some cases, the diagrams obtained from the decompositions of $\beta(\mathfrak{b})$ and $\beta(\mathfrak{c})$ do not cover the entire middle part of the decomposition of $\beta(L)$ or the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of \mathfrak{b} and \mathfrak{c} may have pure diagrams which do not appear in the decomposition of $\beta(L)$.

Now in this section we illustrate the possible relation between the Boij-Söderberg decompositions of the ideals \mathfrak{b} , \mathfrak{c} and L via examples.

Example 3.3.1. $L = (x^2, xy^2, xyz, xz^2, y^8, y^7z, y^6z^2, y^5z^3, y^4z^4, y^3z^5, y^2z^6, yz^7, z^8)$ is a lex segment ideal in R. Then

$$\mathfrak{a} = L : x = (x, y^2, yz, z^2)$$

is lex segment ideal such that $L = x\mathfrak{a} + J$ where $J = (y, z)^8$ is stable in R and lex segment in $\mathbf{k}[y, z]$.

Similarly the ideals

$$\mathfrak{b} = L : y = (x^2, xy, xz, y^7, y^6z, y^5z^2, y^4z^3, y^3z^4, y^2z^5, yz^6, z^7) = L : z = \mathfrak{c}$$

are lex segment ideals such that $L = y\mathfrak{b} + I = z\mathfrak{c} + K$ where $I = (x^2, xz^2, z^8)$ and $K = (x^2, xy^2, y^8)$.

Ww construct similar short exact sequences like (3.1) for the ideals \mathfrak{b} and \mathfrak{c} . Unlike the case for \mathfrak{a} , we might have cancellations in the mapping cone of the short exact sequences for ideals. It means we can have cancellations in the Betti diagram since the mapping cone structure may not yield the minimal free resolution This situation causes different degree sequences that do not appear in Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L.

Now, first we notice that $\mathfrak{b} = \mathfrak{c}$ and find the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$

$$\beta(\mathfrak{a}) = (1)\pi_{(1,3,4)} + [\text{pure diags. of length} < 3],$$

Then we consider the short exact sequence for the ideal \mathfrak{b}

The mapping cone of the short exact sequence for ideal \mathfrak{b} (so the same for \mathfrak{c}) ends up with "one" cancellation in the first degree. So we interpret this as ignoring one pure diagram at the beginning, which is the one corresponding to the degree sequence (2,3,4) at the beginning of the decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{b})$. Therefore,

$$\beta(\mathfrak{b}) = \beta(\mathfrak{c}) = (1)\pi_{(2,3,4)} + (\frac{1}{7})\pi_{(2,3,9)} + (\frac{8}{7})\pi_{(2,8,9)} + [\text{pure diags. length} < 3].$$

The pure diagrams of length less than 3 are coming from the ideal

 $\beta(L, x) = [\text{length 3 pure diags.}] + (8)\pi_{(8,9)} + (1)\pi_{(8)}.$

Hence we claim that the summands (with coefficients) in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of $\beta(L)$ are

$$\beta(L) \approx \underbrace{(1)\pi_{(2,4,5)}}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{a}(-1)} + \underbrace{(\alpha_2)}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{b}(-1)} \underbrace{\pi_{(3,4,10)}}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{b}(-1)} + \underbrace{(\alpha_3)}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{b}(-1)} \underbrace{\pi_{(3,9,10)}}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{b}(-1)} + \underbrace{(8)\pi_{(8,9)} + (1)\pi_{(8)}}_{\text{from }(L,x)},$$

for some coefficients α_2, α_3 in \mathbb{Q} .

Indeed, the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L is,

$$\beta(L) = (1)\pi_{(2,4,5)} + (\frac{2}{7})\pi_{(3,4,10)} + (\frac{9}{7})\pi_{(3,9,10)} + (8)\pi_{(8,9)} + (1)\pi_{(8)}.$$

The impressive point of this example is that one might expect to deduce a structural meaning from the description of the chain of degree sequences in Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L from the ones from \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{b} and (L, x) because we are able to describe the entire chain of degree sequences of L from its the colon ideals \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{b} and the ideal (L, x).

Example 3.3.2. This example will show that some different situations might occur other than the previous example.

Let $L = (x^2, xy^2, xyz, xz^2, y^4, y^3z, y^2z^2, yz^6, z^9)$ be lex-segment ideal in R. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{a} &= L: x = (x, y^2, yz, z^2), \\ \mathfrak{b} &= L: y = (x^2, xy, xz, y^3, y^2z, yz^2, z^6), \text{ and} \\ \mathfrak{c} &= L: (z) = (x^2, xy, xz, y^3, y^2z, yz^5, z^8). \end{aligned}$$

We observe that one cancellation occurs in the mapping cone process of each ideal \mathfrak{b} and \mathfrak{c} . Boij-Söderberg decompositions of \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{b} , \mathfrak{c} and (L, x) are

$$\beta(\mathfrak{a}) = 1\pi_{(1,3,4)} + [\text{pure diags. of length } < 3],$$

$$\beta(\mathfrak{b}) = \underline{1}\pi_{(2,3,4)} + \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(2,3,5)} + \frac{5}{6}\pi_{(2,4,5)} + \frac{1}{4}\pi_{(2,4,8)} + \frac{7}{20}\pi_{(3,4,8)} + \frac{1}{10}\pi_{(3,7,8)} + [\text{pure diags. of length } < 3],$$

$$\begin{split} \beta(\mathfrak{c}) &= \underline{1}\pi_{(2,3,4)} + \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(2,3,5)} + \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(2,4,5)} + \frac{1}{2}\pi_{(2,4,8)} + \frac{1}{10}\pi_{(3,4,8)} + \frac{1}{10}\pi_{(3,7,8)} \\ &+ \frac{3}{14}\pi_{(3,7,10)} + \frac{1}{42}\pi_{(3,9,10)} + [\text{pure diags. of length } < 3], \text{ and} \\ \beta(L,x) &= [\text{pure diags. of length } 3] + 1\pi_{(4,10)} + 1\pi_{(7,10)} + 1\pi_{(9)}. \end{split}$$

So, the Boij-Söderberg decomposition for the ideal L is likely to be

$$\beta(L) \approx 1\pi_{(2,4,5)} + \alpha_2\pi_{(3,4,6)} + \alpha_3\pi_{(3,5,6)} + \alpha_4\pi_{(3,5,9)} + \alpha_5\pi_{(4,5,9)} + \alpha_6\pi_{(4,8,9)} + \alpha_7\pi_{(4,8,11)} \\ + \alpha_8\pi_{(4,10,11)} + 1\pi_{(4,10)} + 1\pi_{(7,10)} + 1\pi_{(9)}, \text{ where } \alpha_i \in \mathbb{Q}, \quad i = 2, \dots 8.$$

Thus it seems that we almost obtain the actual Boij-Söderberg decomposition for L which is

$$\begin{split} \beta(L) &= \underbrace{1\pi_{(2,4,5)}}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{a}(-1)} + \frac{2}{3} \underbrace{\pi_{(3,4,6)}}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{b}(-1) \text{ and }\mathfrak{c}(-1)} + \frac{2}{3} \underbrace{\pi_{(3,5,6)}}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{b}(-1) \text{ and }\mathfrak{c}(-1)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \underbrace{\pi_{(3,5,9)}}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{b}(-1) \text{ and }\mathfrak{c}(-1)} + \frac{3}{10} \underbrace{\pi_{(4,5,9)}}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{b}(-1) \text{ and }\mathfrak{c}(-1)} + \frac{1}{20} \underbrace{\pi_{(4,8,9)}}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{b}(-1) \text{ and }\mathfrak{c}(-1)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \underbrace{\pi_{(4,8,11)}}_{\text{from }\mathfrak{c}(-1)} + \underbrace{1\pi_{(4,10)} + 1\pi_{(7,10)} + 1\pi_{(9)}}_{\text{from }(L,x)}. \end{split}$$

Apparently, the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of \mathfrak{c} provides an additional pure diagram, $\pi_{(4,10,11)}$, which does not appear in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L. Nevertheless it still supports the idea of the connection of the middle part of the decomposition of $\beta(L)$ and the decompositions of $\beta(\mathfrak{b})$ and $\beta(\mathfrak{c})$.

Example 3.3.3. In the previous example we saw that one can obtain a longer chain of the degree sequences for L that the actual chain of the degree sequences via the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of the ideals \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{b} , \mathfrak{c} and (L, x). This example shows

Consider the lex-segment ideal $L = (x^2, xy, xz^2, y^6, y^5z, y^4z^3, y^3z^4, y^2z^5, yz^6, z^9) \subset R$. Then the colon ideals are

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{a} &= L : x = (x, y, z^2), \\ \mathfrak{b} &= L : y = (x, y^5, y^4 z, y^3 z^3, y^2 z^4, y z^5, z^6), \text{ and} \\ \mathfrak{c} &= L : z = (x^2, xy, xz, y^5, y^4 z^2, y^3 z^3, y^2 z^4, y z^5, z^8). \end{aligned}$$

The mapping cone for the ideal \mathfrak{c} requires two cancellations, so we ignore the first two degree sequences. Then,

$$\beta(\mathfrak{a}) = \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(1,2,4)} + \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(1,3,4)} + [\text{pure diags. of length } < 3],$$

$$\beta(\mathfrak{b}) = \frac{1}{5}\pi_{(1,6,7)} + \frac{9}{35}\pi_{(1,6,8)} + \frac{2}{7}\pi_{(1,7,8)} + \frac{1}{2}\pi_{(5,7,8)} + [\text{pure diags. of length } < 3],$$

$$\beta(\mathbf{c}) = \underline{1}\pi_{(2,3,4)} + \frac{1}{6}\pi_{(2,3,8)} + \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(2,6,8)} + \frac{19}{30}\pi_{(2,7,8)} + \frac{1}{15}\pi_{(2,7,10)} + \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(5,7,10)} + \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(5,$$

and $\beta(L, x) = [\text{pure diags. length 3}] + \frac{1}{2}\pi_{(6,8)} + 2\pi_{(7,8)} + 2\pi_{(7,10)} + 1\pi_{(9)}.$

Then, we get the following chain of degree sequences in order to set up the approximate Boij-Söderberg decomposition for L

$$\begin{array}{ll} \beta(L) &\approx \underbrace{(2,3,5) < (2,4,5)}_{\text{from } \mathfrak{a}(-1)} < \underbrace{(2,7,8) < (2,7,9) < (\mathbf{2},\mathbf{8},\mathbf{9}) < (\mathbf{6},\mathbf{8},\mathbf{9})}_{\text{from } \mathfrak{b}(-1)} \\ < \underbrace{(3,7,9) < (3,8,9) < (\mathbf{3},\mathbf{8},\mathbf{11}) < (6,8,11)}_{\text{from } \mathfrak{c}(-1)} < \underbrace{(7,9) < (8,9) < (8,11) < (10)}_{\text{from } (L,x)} \end{array}$$

However, the degree sequences in the decomposition must be a partial ordered chain, so we have to eliminate the ones that violate the partial order. From the decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{c})$, we get (3,7,9) as the first degree sequence, but (2,8,9) and (6,8,9) cannot be before (3,7,9). So we have to ignore the sequences (2,8,9) and (6,8,9). Then we get an approximate decomposition such as

$$\beta(L) \approx \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(2,3,5)} + \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(2,4,5)} + \alpha_3\pi_{(2,7,8)} + \alpha_4\pi_{(2,7,9)} + \alpha_7\pi_{(3,7,9)} + \alpha_8\pi_{(3,8,9)} + \alpha_9\pi_{(3,8,11)} + \alpha_{10}\pi_{(6,8,11)} + \frac{1}{2}\pi_{(6,8)} + \frac{1}{2}\pi_{(7,9)} + 2\pi_{(8,9)} + 2\pi_{(8,11)} + 1\pi_{(10)}.$$

The Boij-Söderberg decomposition of $\beta(L)$ is

$$\begin{split} \beta(L) &= \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(2,3,5)} + \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(2,4,5)} + \frac{1}{3}\pi_{(2,4,8)} + \frac{2}{15}\pi_{(2,7,8)} + \frac{1}{10}\pi_{(2,7,9)} + \frac{1}{2}\pi_{(3,7,9)} + \frac{1}{2}\pi_{(3,8,9)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\pi_{(6,8,11)} + \frac{1}{2}\pi_{(6,8)} + \frac{1}{2}\pi_{(7,9)} + 2\pi_{(8,9)} + 2\pi_{(8,11)} + 1\pi_{(10)}. \end{split}$$

The degree sequence (3, 8, 11) associated with (2, 7, 10), which is coming from the decomposition of $\beta(\mathfrak{c})$, does not show up in the decomposition of $\beta(L)$, similar to the situation in Example (3.3.2). Moreover, for this lex-segment ideal L, we realize another different situation. The degree sequence (2, 4, 8) shows up in the chain of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of $\beta(L)$, but (2 - 1, 4 - 1, 8 - 1) = (1, 3, 7) does not appear in any of the decompositions of $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$, $\beta(\mathfrak{b})$ and $\beta(\mathfrak{c})$. Hence we get the entire chain of degree sequences.

We see that (2, 4, 5) is the last degree sequence coming from $\mathfrak{a}(-1)$ and the next degree sequence (2, 7, 8) is from $\mathfrak{b}(-1)$. If we assume that there is no other degree sequence between (2, 4, 5) and (2, 7, 8), it implies that simultaneous elimination of the entries in the positions of $\beta_{1,4}$ and $\beta_{2,5}$ in the Betti diagram of L by the algorithm of Boij-Söderberg decomposition. However, this is not possible because otherwise there would not be a pure diagram of length 2 in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of \mathfrak{a} . Hence again by the partial order, it must be (2, 4, 5) < (2, 4, 8) < (2, 7, 8).

This research about Boij-Söderberg decomposition of lex-segment ideals continues with further directions.

Remark 3.3.4. The curiosity about a full description for the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of $\beta(L)$ in terms of $\beta(L, x)$, $\beta(\mathfrak{a})$, $\beta(\mathfrak{b})$, and $\beta(\mathfrak{c})$ is inevitable. So far we characterized the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of any (Artinian) lex-segment ideal L through the Boij-Söderberg decompositions of other lex ideals $\mathfrak{a} = L : x$ and (L, x) in terms of the pure diagrams in the decompositions. Moreover the examples showed that if we know the Boij-Söderberg decompositions of the colon ideals $\mathfrak{b} = L : y$ and $\mathfrak{c} = L : z$, they help us to reveal almost the entire chain of the degree sequences of the decomposition for the lex-segment ideal L. However, the examples (3.3.2) and (3.3.3) also showed that the Boij-Söderberg decompositions of \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{b} , \mathfrak{c} and (L, x) may not be enough to provide the entire chain of degree sequences in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{b} , \mathfrak{c} and (L, x) may not be enough to provide the entire chain of degree sequences in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{b} , \mathfrak{c} and (L, x) may not be enough to provide the entire chain of degree sequences in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L. There might be some gaps and redundant degree sequences.

With the explanations, such as the cancellations in mapping cone, the necessity of the order of the chain of the degree sequences, we step closer to the entire chain of degree sequences in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L. In other words, we hope to formalize the full chain of degree sequences of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of the ideal L by using the Boij-Söderberg decompositions of the colon ideals $\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{b} \mathfrak{c}$ and the lex ideal (L, x).

Furthermore, in order to get a full description of the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of L, we must also examine the coefficients of the pure diagrams in the decompositions. Even though we focus on the pure diagrams in the Boij-Söderbeg decomposition, the Theorems 3.2.1 and 3.2.3 show the relations of the coefficients of the pure diagrams as well. However the relation of the coefficients of the pure diagrams in the Boij-Söderberg decomposition of the colon ideals \mathfrak{b} and \mathfrak{c} with the coefficients of the corresponding pure diagrams in the decomposition of L has not been studied yet.

Copyright[©] Sema Güntürkün, 2014.

Copyright[©] Sema Güntürkün, 2014.

Bibliography

- [1] Hyman Bass. On the ubiquity of Gorenstein rings. Math. Z., 82:8–28, 1963.
- [2] Anna Maria Bigatti. Upper bounds for the Betti numbers of a given Hilbert function. Comm. Algebra, 21(7):2317-2334, 1993.
- [3] Mats Boij and Jonas Söderberg. Graded Betti numbers of Cohen-Macaulay modules and the multiplicity conjecture. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 78(1):85–106, 2008.
- [4] Mats Boij and Jonas Söderberg. Betti numbers of graded modules and the multiplicity conjecture in the non-Cohen-Macaulay case. Algebra Number Theory, 6(3):437–454, 2012.
- [5] Gavin Brown, Michael Kerber, and Miles Reid. Fano 3-folds in codimension 4, Tom and Jerry. Part I. Compos. Math., 148(4):1171–1194, 2012.
- [6] Gavin Brown, Miles Reid, and Jan Stevens. Tutorial on Tom and Jerry : the two smoothings of anticanonical cone over $\mathbb{P}(1,2,3)$ (work in progress).
- [7] David A. Buchsbaum and David Eisenbud. Algebra structures for finite free resolutions, and some structure theorems for ideals of codimension 3. Amer. J. Math., 99(3):447–485, 1977.
- [8] Lindsay Burch. On ideals of finite homological dimension in local rings. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 64:941–948, 1968.
- [9] Marta Casanellas, Elena Drozd, and Robin Hartshorne. Gorenstein liaison and ACM sheaves. J. Reine Angew. Math., 584:149–171, 2005.
- [10] David Eisenbud and Frank-Olaf Schreyer. Betti numbers of graded modules and cohomology of vector bundles. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 22(3):859–888, 2009.
- [11] Shalom Eliahou and Michel Kervaire. Minimal resolutions of some monomial ideals. J. Algebra, 129(1):1–25, 1990.
- [12] Gunnar Fløystad. Boij-Söderberg theory: introduction and survey. In Progress in commutative algebra 1, pages 1–54. de Gruyter, Berlin, 2012.
- [13] Elisa Gorla. A generalized Gaeta's theorem. Compos. Math., 144(3):689–704, 2008.
- [14] Tor Holtedahl Gulliksen and Odd Guttorm Negard. Un complexe résolvant pour certains idéaux déterminantiels. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B, 274:A16–A18, 1972.

- [15] Sema Güntürkün. Boij-söderberg decompositions of lex-segment ideals. arXiv:1404.0118, submitted.
- [16] Sema Güntürkün and Uwe Nagel. Constructing homogeneous Gorenstein ideals. J. Algebra, 401:107–124, 2014.
- [17] Robin Hartshorne. Generalized divisors and biliaison. Illinois J. Math., 51(1):83– 98 (electronic), 2007.
- [18] J. Herzog and M. Kühl. On the Betti numbers of finite pure and linear resolutions. Comm. Algebra, 12(13-14):1627–1646, 1984.
- [19] Heather A. Hulett. Maximum Betti numbers of homogeneous ideals with a given Hilbert function. Comm. Algebra, 21(7):2335–2350, 1993.
- [20] Craig Huneke. Hyman Bass and ubiquity: Gorenstein rings. In Algebra, Ktheory, groups, and education (New York, 1997), volume 243 of Contemp. Math., pages 55–78. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [21] Jan O. Kleppe, Juan C. Migliore, Rosa Miró-Roig, Uwe Nagel, and Chris Peterson. Gorenstein liaison, complete intersection liaison invariants and unobstructedness. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 154(732):viii+116, 2001.
- [22] Andrew R. Kustin and Matthew Miller. Constructing big Gorenstein ideals from small ones. J. Algebra, 85(2):303–322, 1983.
- [23] Andrew R. Kustin and Matthew Miller. Deformation and linkage of Gorenstein algebras. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 284(2):501–534, 1984.
- [24] Juan C. Migliore. Introduction to liaison theory and deficiency modules, volume 165 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1998.
- [25] Uwe Nagel. Even liaison classes generated by Gorenstein linkage. J. Algebra, 209(2):543–584, 1998.
- [26] Stavros Argyrios Papadakis. Kustin-Miller unprojection with complexes. J. Algebraic Geom., 13(2):249–268, 2004.
- [27] Stavros Argyrios Papadakis and Miles Reid. Kustin-Miller unprojection without complexes. J. Algebraic Geom., 13(3):563–577, 2004.
- [28] C. Peskine and L. Szpiro. Liaison des variétés algébriques. I. Invent. Math., 26:271–302, 1974.
- [29] Judith D. Sally. Stretched Gorenstein rings. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 20(1):19– 26, 1979.
- [30] Charles A. Weibel. An introduction to homological algebra, volume 38 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994.

Sema Güntürkün

- Education
 - M.S. in Mathematics, University of Kentucky; June 2011

M.S. in Mathematics, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey; June 2011

B.S. in Mathematics, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey; June 2006

• Publications and Preprints

(with Uwe Nagel) Constructing homogeneous Gorenstein ideals, *Journal of Algebra*, Volume 401, 1 March 2014, Pages 107-124.

Boij-Söderberg decomposition of Lex-segment ideals, submitted, $arXiv:\,1404.0118$

• Honors

JMM-AMS Graduate Travel Grant, January 2014

Clifford J. Swauger Jr. Summer Graduate Fellowship, Department of Mathematics, University of Kentucky, Summer 2013

Provost Outstanding Teaching Award, in category of Teaching Assistant Award*, University of Kentucky, 2013

AMS Graduate Student Travel Grant, Spring 2013, Fall 2014

Edgar Enochs Fellowship Award, Department of Mathematics, University of Kentucky, 2012

College of Arts and Sciences Outstanding Teaching Assistant Award, University of Kentucky, 2012

Summer Research Assistantship Award, Department of Mathematics, University of Kentucky, 2011

Honor Undergraduate Award, Middle East Technical University, June 2006